Global Peatland Hotspot Atlas: The State of the World's Peatlands in Maps

Visualizing global threats and opportunities for peatland conservation, restoration, and sustainable management





© 2024 United Nations Environment Programme ISBN: 978-92-807-4197-1 Job Number: DEP/2684/NA DOI: https://doi.org/10.59117/20.500.11822/46635

This publication may be reproduced in whole or in part and in any form for educational or non-profit services without special permission from the copyright holder, provided acknowledgement of the source is made. The United Nations Environment Programme would appreciate receiving a copy of any publication that uses this publication as a source.

No use of this publication may be made for resale or any other commercial purpose whatsoever without prior permission in writing from the Secretariat of the United Nations. Applications for such permission, with a statement of the purpose and extent of the reproduction, should be addressed to: unep-communication-director@un.org.

Disclaimers:

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Secretariat of the United Nations concerning the legal status of any country, territory or city or its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

Some illustrations or graphics appearing in this publication may have been adapted from content published by third parties to illustrate the authors' own interpretations of the key messages emerging from such third-party illustrations or graphics. In such cases, the material in this publication does not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of United Nations Environment Programme concerning the source materials used as a basis for such graphics or illustrations.

Mention of a commercial company or product in this document does not imply endorsement by the United Nations Environment Programme or the authors. The use of information from this document for publicity or advertising is not permitted. Trademark names and symbols are used in an editorial fashion with no intention on infringement of trademark or copyright laws.

The views expressed in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the United Nations Environment Programme. We regret any errors or omissions that may have been unwittingly made.

The boundaries and names shown, and the designations used on the maps provided in this publication do not imply official endorsement or acceptance by the United Nations.

© Maps, photos and illustrations as specified

Suggested Citation

United Nations Environment Programme (2024). Global Peatland Hotspot Atlas: The State of the World's Peatlands in Maps. Visualizing global threats and opportunities for peatland conservation, restoration, and sustainable management. Nairobi.

Production

United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). https://www.unep.org/resources/report/global-peatlandhotspot-atlas-2024

Supported by:

The Global Peatland Hotspot Atlas is a product produced under the umbrella of the Global Peatlands Initiative: Assessing, Measuring and Preserving Peat Carbon project (GPI project) which is funded by the International Climate Initiative (IKI) of Germany.

Acknowledgements

The United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) would like to thank the Greifswald Mire Centre (GMC) and the Michael Succow Foundation (MSF) for compiling the Global Peatland Database and for the production of the Global Peatland Map and all Thematic Maps.

UNEP would also like to thank the Global Peatlands Initiative (GPI) Team for the overall coordination of this Atlas.

Authors

Alexandra Barthelmes (GMC/DUENE e.V.), Cosima Tegetmeyer (GMC/DUENE e.V.), Hans Joosten (GMC/University of Greifswald), Patrick Scheel (UNEP).

Production, Coordination and Review

Patrick Scheel (UNEP), Jan Peters (GMC/MSF), Dianna Kopansky (UNEP).

Design and layout

igel+ente, Büro für Gestaltung, Fotografie und Kommunikation Greifswald, Germany Anna Knüppel & Michael Schröder (<u>www.igelundente.de</u>) Nora Prinz (<u>www.noraprinz.de</u>)

Thanks also to:

Caroline Borowski, Martha Burckhardt, the Global Peatland Database mapping team, the contributors of the UNEP 2022 Global Peatland Assessment, Susan Gardner, Jane Muriithi, Mónica López Conlon, Cisca Devereux, and Fabrice Inkonkoy



Glossary

Biodiversitv

The variability among living organisms from all sources including terrestrial, marine and other aquatic ecosystems and the ecological complexes of which they are a part. This includes variation in genetic, phenotypic, phylogenetic, and functional attributes, as well as changes in abundance and distribution over time and space within and among species, biological communities, and ecosystems [2].

Biome

A set of naturally occurring communities of plants and animals occupying an environmental and/or climatic domain defined on a global scale. IPBES biomes (e.g., tropical and subtropical forests, shelf ecosystems, inland waters) are broader and more aggregated than many purely biological classification systems. Where biomes are transformed into anthromes, the pre-impact range of the biome may still be relevant for analysis. 'Natural biome' may be used to distinguish from 'anthropogenic biome' or 'anthrome' [1].

Blanket bog

Ombrotrophic mire type occurring in regions with excessive rainfall globally. The surface relief of blanket bogs largely follows the underlying mineral soil like a 'blanket' [3].

Bog

A type of peatland which is rainwater fed and therefore acidic and nutrient poor [4].

Climate Change

Climate change refers to a change in the state of the climate that can be identified (e.g., by using statistical tests) by changes in the mean and/or the variability of its properties and that persists for an extended period, typically decades or longer. Climate change may be due to natural internal processes or external forcing such as modulations of the solar cycles, volcanic eruptions and persistent anthropogenic changes in the composition of the atmosphere or inland use. Note that the Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), in its Article 1, defines climate change as: 'a change of climate which is attributed directly or indirectly to human activity that alters the composition of the global atmosphere and which is in addition to natural climate variability observed over comparable time periods.' The UNFCCC thus makes a distinction between climate change attributable to human activities altering the atmospheric composition and climate variability attributable to natural causes [5, 1].

CO₂ equivalent (CO₂e) emission

The amount of carbon dioxide (CO₂) emission that would cause the same integrated radiative forcing or temperature change, over a given time horizon, as an emitted amount of a greenhouse gas (GHG) or a mixture of GHGs [5].

Degraded lands

Land in a state that results from persistent decline or loss

of biodiversity and ecosystem functions and services that cannot fully recover unaided within decadal timescales [1]. Drivers of Change: All those external factors that affect nature, and consequently, also affect the supply of nature's contributions to people. The IPBES conceptual framework includes drivers of change as two of its main elements: indirect drivers, which are all anthropogenic, and direct drivers, both natural and anthropogenic [1].

Ecosystem

A dynamic complex of plant, animal and microorganism communities and their non-living environment interacting as a functional unit [6, 1].

Ecosystem degradation

A long-term reduction in an ecosystem's structure, functionality, or capacity to provide benefits to people [7].

Ecosystem services

The benefits people obtain from ecosystems. According to the original formulation of the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (MEA), ecosystem services were divided into supporting, regulating, provisioning and cultural. After the MEA, the Common International Classification for Ecosystem Services (CICES) distinguishes three main categories of ecosystem services: regulating, provisioning and cultural. The "ecosystem services" classification, however, is superseded in IPBES assessments by the system used under "nature's contributions to people". This is because IPBES recognizes that many services fit into more than one of the four categories [8, 1].

Endemism

The ecological state of a species being unique to a defined geographic location, such as an island, nation, country or other defined zone, or habitat type [5].

Fen

A type of peatland which is additionally to rainwater also fed by water that has been in contact with the mineral soil/ bedrock and thus generally less acidic and more nutrientrich than bogs [4].

Flark

Elongated lowered area of a fen or mixed mire, with sparse vegetation, bordered by strings, and arranged perpendicular to the slope, occurring in String-Flark-Fens [4].

Greenhouse gases (GHGs)

Gaseous constituents of the atmosphere, both natural and anthropogenic, that absorb and emit radiation at specific wavelengths within the spectrum of terrestrial radiation emitted by the Earth's surface, the atmosphere itself and by clouds. This property causes the greenhouse effect. Water vapor (H₂O), carbon dioxide (CO₂), nitrous oxide (N_2O) , methane (CH_4) and ozone (O_3) are the primary GHGs in the Earth's atmosphere. Moreover, there are a

number of entirely humanmade GHGs in the atmosphere, such as the halocarbons and other chlorine- and bromine-containing substances, dealt with under the Montreal Protocol. Beside CO₂, N₂O and CH₄, the Kyoto Protocol deals with the GHGs sulphure hexafluoride (SF6), hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs) and perfluorocarbons (PFCs [5]).

Hotspot

A general term used across disciplines to describe a region or value that is higher relative to its surroundings [9].

Kernel Density

Calculates a magnitude-per-unit area from point or polyline features using a kernel function to fit a smoothly tapered surface to each point or polyline [10].

Marsh

Wetland frequently or continually inundated with water; hosting soft-stemmed, often grassy vegetation. Marshes can be dryland potholes or coastal to inland, freshwater to saltwater environments. Marshes develop on both, organic (,peat') and mineral soil.

Mire

A peatland with active peat accumulation [3]. Nature-based solutions: Actions to protect, conserve, restore, sustainably use and manage natural or modified terrestrial, freshwater, coastal and marine ecosystems which address social, economic and environmental challenges effectively and adaptively, while simultaneously providing human well-being, ecosystem services, resilience and biodiversity benefits [1].

Paludiculture

The cultivation of biomass on wet and rewetted peatlands, so that subsidence is stopped and greenhouse gas emissions minimized [definition informed by the one appearing in the Ramsar COP13 Resolution XIII.12. (2018) Guidance on identifying peatlands as Wetlands of International Importance (Ramsar Sites) for global climate change regulation as an additional argument to existing Ramsar criteria [4].

Palsas

Perennial mounds found in peat bogs in areas with discontinuous and sporadic permafrost and occasionally also in continuous permafrost areas [11].

Peat

Consists of dead, partly decomposed plant remains (but still macroscopically recognizable) that have accumulated Swamp and have been conserved on the spot where they have Wetland on water-logged organic or mineral soil. They are been produced (in situ). Peat forms in waterlogged areas dominated by water-tolerant woody vegetation such as shrubs, palms or trees. where microbial decomposition of the dead organic matter is slowed by anoxic conditions or very low [12].

Peatland

Land with a naturally accumulated layer of peat near the surface. Peatlands include both ecosystems that are actively accumulating peat and degraded peatlands that no longer accumulate but in contrast lose peat [13, 14]. They are found in a wide variety of climatic zones and under

many different landcover types. Peatland ecosystems are typically classified using hydrological, botanical and physiognomic characteristics. These features disappear or are altered if peatlands are drained or intensively used [1].

Peatscapes

Landscapes that are dominated by peatlands.

Permafrost

Ground (soil or rock and included ice and organic material) that remains at or below 0°C for at least two consecutive years [15, 1].

Polygon mire

A permafrost mire characterised by a polygon pattern caused by ice-wedge formation. Two types are distinguished: low center polygon mire and high center polygon mire [3].

Polygonal tundra

A primary landscape type in Arctic systems consisting of ice wedge polygons that form when freeze-thaw cycles physically move the soil [16, 17, 18].

Raised boos

Peatland with its surface and water level clearly raised above that of the surrounding mineral soil and groundwater, and that receives water and nutrients from the atmosphere only [3].

Seepage mire

A mire that is mainly confined to flat basins and to seepage area where the peat is kept wet by seepage water trickling downslope from thawing permafrost upslope [3].

Soil organic carbon (SOC)

A summarizing parameter including all of the carbon forms for dissolved (DOC: Dissolved Organic Carbon) and total organic compounds (TOC: Total Organic Carbon) in soils [19, 20].

Soil organic matter (SOM)

Matter consisting of plant and/or animal organic materials, and the conversion products of those materials in soils [19, 20].

Strina

An elongated and elevated area (ridge) perpendicular to the slope of a mire, occurring in String-Flark-Fens [3].

Wetland

Area of marsh, fen, peatland, or water, whether natural or artificial, permanent or temporary, with water that is static or flowing, fresh, brackish or salt, including areas of marine water the depth of which at low tide does not exceed six meters [21].

List of acronyms

- CH₄ Methane
- CO₂ Carbon Dioxide
- Dissolved Organic Carbon DOC
- Democratic Republic of the Congo DRC
- EU European Union
- GHG Greenhouse Gas
- Greifswald Mire Centre GMC
- GPA Global Peatlands Assessment GPD
- Global Peatlands Database GPI
- Global Peatlands Initiative
- Global Peatland Map GPM
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change IPCC
- Latin America and the Caribbean LAC
- MSF Michael Succow Foundation
- Nature-based Solutions NbS
- N₂O Nitrous oxide
- PSF Peat Swamp Forest
- UNEP United Nations Environment Programme

Contents

Glossary List of acronyms List of maps Foreword Key messages

Chapter 1: Introduction

- 1.1 Aim and purpose of the Atlas
- 1.2 Global Peatland Map 2.0
- 1.3 Global peatland distribution
- 1.4 Peatland within global climate zones (Köppen-Geiger)

Chapter 2: Thematic maps

- 2.1 Peatland biodiversity
- 2.2 Peatland in permafrost
- 2.3 Mountain peatland and water supply
- 2.4 Peatland in dryland

Chapter 3: Regional maps

- 3.1 Peatlands of Africa
- 3.2 Peatlands of Asia
- 3.3 Peatlands of Europe
- 3.4 Peatlands of Latin America and the Caribbean
- 3.5 Peatlands of North America
- 3.6 Peatlands of Oceania

Chapter 4: Degradation maps

- 4.1 Global peatland drainage
- 4.2 Global peatland degradation
- 4.3 Global greenhouse gas emissions from peatland
- 4.4 Transport infrastructure on peatland
- 4.5 Agriculture on peatland
- 4.6 Urbanisation on peatland
- 4.7 Mining, oil, and gas deposits on peatland
- 4.8 Flood events, flooding risk, subsidence on peatland
- 4.9 Peatland fires

Chapter 5: Protection map

5.1 - Peatland protection

Chapter 6: Conclusion

Chapter 7: Methods

References

| III V VII VIII IX |
|--|
| 1-4 1 2 3 4 |
| 5-8 5 6 7 8 |
| 9-14 9 10 11 12 13 14 |
| 15–23 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 |
| 24 24 |
| 25 |
| 27-30 |

List of Maps

1.2 Global Peatland Map 2.0

- 1.2.1 Global peatland distribution
- 1.2.2 Peatland indicator data
- 1.2.3 Sources of peatland data

1.3 Global distribution of peatland

- 1.3.1 Global peatland distribution by latitude
- 1.3.2 Peatland extent per country
- 1.3.3 Peatland extent in relation to country area

1.4 Peatland within global climate zones

- 1.4.1 Köppen-Geiger climate classifications
- 1.4.2 Peatland distribution in climate zones

2.1 Peatland biodiversity

2.1.1 Rarity-weighted species richness on peatland

2.2 Peatland in permafrost

- 2.2.1 World permafrost distribution
- 2.2.2 Permafrost-affected peatland

2.3 Mountain peatland and water supply

- 2.3.1 High-altitude peatland
- 2.3.2 Key mountain ranges for peatland occurrence

2.4 Peatland in dryland

2.4.1 Peatland in arid and sub-arid climates

3.1 Peatlands of Africa

- 3.1.1 Peatland distribution in Africa
- 3.1.2 Africa's peatlands regionality map

3.2 Peatlands of Asia

- 3.2.1 Peatland distribution in Asia
- 3.2.2 Asia's peatlands regionality map

3.3 Peatlands of Europe

3.3.1 Peatland distribution in Europe

3.3.2 Europe's peatlands regionality map

3.4 Peatlands of Latin America and the Caribbean

- 3.4.1 Peatland distribution in Latin America and the Caribbean
- 3.4.2 Latin America and the Caribbean's peatlands regionality map

3.5 Peatlands of North America

- 3.5.1 Peatland distribution in North America
- 3.5.2 North America's peatlands regionality map

3.6 Peatlands of Oceania

- 3.6.1 Peatland distribution in Oceania
- 3.6.2 Oceania's peatlands regionality map

4.1 Global peatland drainage

4.1.1 Global peatland drainage distribution

4.2 Global peatland degradation

- 4.2.1 Global peatland degradation distribution at a national level
- 4.2.2 Global peatland degradation distribution at a global level

4.3 Global greenhouse gas emissions from peatland

- 4.3.1 GHG emissions from peatland per country
- 4.3.2 GHG emissions from peatland per unit land area
- 4.3.3 GHG emissions from peatland relative to emissions from fossil fuels and cement

4.4 Transport infrastructure on peatland

- 4.4.1 Global distribution of roads
- 4.4.2 Hotspots of roads on peatland
- 4.4.3 Global distribution of railways
- 4.4.4 Hotspots of railways on peatland
- 4.4.5 Ecological Value Index of roadless areas

4.5 Agriculture on peatland

- 4.5.1 Global distribution of cropland
- 4.5.2 Hotspots of cropland on peatland
- 4.5.3 Global distribution of oil palm plantations
- 4.5.4 Hotspots of oil palm plantations on peatland
- 4.5.5 Peatland area covered with cropland
- 4.5.6 Major agricultural systems globally

4.6 Urbanisation on peatland

- 4.6.1 Populated places distribution
- 4.6.2 Hotspots of populated places (partly) on peatland
- 4.6.3 Urban areas distribution
- 4.6.4 Hotspots of urban areas (partly) on peatland

4.7 Mining, oil, and gas deposits on peatland

- 4.7.1 Global mining operations
- 4.7.2 Hotspots of mining on peatland
- 4.7.3 Global oil and gas deposits
- 4.7.4 Hotspots of oil and gas deposits under peatland
- 4.8 Flood events, flooding risk, subsidence on peatland

4.8.1 Large flood events (2001-2020)

- 4.8.2 Hotspots of large flood events on peatland (2001-2020)
- 4.8.3 Areas at risk from 100-year flooding
- 4.8.4 Hotspots of peatland at risk from 100-year flooding
- 4.8.5 Potential land subsidence until 2040
- 4.8.6 Hotspots of potential land subsidence on peatland until 2040

4.9 Peatland Fires

- 4.9.1 Hotspots of global peatland fire occurrence from 2013 to 2022
- 4.9.2 Hotspots of peatland fire occurrence in Indonesia from 2013 to 2022

5.1 Peatland protection

- 5.1.1 Peatland within and outside protected areas
- 5.1.2 Peatland within and outside protected areas by region

Foreword

Peatlands play an important global role, far beyond what their size might

suggest. Covering just 3% of our Earth's surface, these dense, ancient ecosystems have a profound impact on our planet, storing more carbon than all the world's forests combined. Peatlands are not only essential for climate change mitigation, they also play a vital role in regulating and purifying water for human consumption, wildlife habitats, and socio-economic development. These rich ecosystems act as safe havens for rare and threatened species of flora and fauna that support local livelihoods. Furthermore, peatlands serve as natural archives of archaeological and cultural heritage. Despite being relatively under-recognized, peatlands are found all over the world, present in 177 of 193 UN member states, providing critical ecosystem services that sustain millions of people and their livelihoods. Investing in the protection and restoration of peatlands is one of the most cost-effective strategies to deliver multiple benefits to people, nature, and climate. As the world confronts the severe crisis of climate change, biodiversity loss, and pollution, the conservation, restoration, and sustainable management of peatlands have become more important than ever.

Peatlands are under threat, and yet are often neglected in global environmental discussions. They face widespread exploitation from agriculture, urban development, deforestation, and industrial activities worldwide. Peatland drainage drastically reduces their ability to deliver ecosystem services that support climate adaptation and ecological resilience. Damaged peatlands emit vast amounts of greenhouse gases, intensifying climate change, with devastating effects for both nature and people. Many peatlands are located close to populated areas, making their degradation a direct threat to the livelihoods, health, and safety of millions of people. The loss of these ecosystems can trigger environmental catastrophes including floodings, droughts, soil subsidence, fires and subsequent haze pollution, all of which compromise human health and development, while incurring substantial economic costs.

UNEP's Global Peatlands Initiative (GPI) is at the forefront of advancing strategies for peatlands conservation, rest-

oration, and sustainable management worldwide. The GPI aims to effectively safeguard peatlands by ensuring that policies and action plans are aligned with shared objectives and backed by the most up-to-date science. As a flagship product of the GPI, the Global Peatland Hotspot Atlas serves as a valuable tool for decision-makers, providing data, evidence, and clear insights into the global state of peatlands. By presenting a comprehensive overview of peatland hotspots, the Atlas aims to bridge the gap between science and policy, identifying peatland threats and opportunities, and enabling informed decisions that prioritize their sustainable management. In line with international efforts, including the Rio Conventions and other Multilateral Environmental Agreements, peatlands must be central to discussions about achieving global objectives such as the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework 2030 targets, the Paris Agreement, and the Sustainable Development Goals.

The Global Peatland Hotspot Atlas is a call to action. It is not only about saving an ecosystem, but about acknowledging the human dimension and understanding how the fate of peatlands is intrinsically linked to the future of our planet and its people. It positions peatlands where they belong: at the heart of the global environmental agenda. The time to act is now, and the Atlas is a crucial step forward in ensuring these ecosystems continue to benefit future generations.

Susan Gardner

Ecosystems Division Director United Nations Environment Programme

1.CF



Key Messages

1. Peatlands play a critical role in climate change mitigation and provide essential ecosystem services, yet they face significant threats and remain among the least understood and monitored ecosystems globally.

2. The Global Peatland Hotspot Atlas builds on the Global Peatlands Assessment and accompanying Global Peatland Map 2.0, both flagship products of the UNEP Global Peatlands Initiative. This Atlas introduces updated and newly designed hotspot maps, offering a clearer visualization of peatland distribution and the threats they face, setting a new standard for global peatland mapping, research, and policy development.

3. Global peatland distribution is shaped by atmospheric circulation patterns and varying climatic conditions, resulting in a high diversity of peatland types, with greater concentrations in boreal regions and the tropics.

4. Major threats to peatlands include drainage for agriculture, forestry, and peat extraction, intensified by industrial activities and infrastructure development. Climate change further exacerbates these issues. leading to significant degradation, loss of ecosystem functions, and increased greenhouse gas emissions, representing currently 4% of global anthropogenic emissions.

5. Peatlands are vital habitats for rare and threatened species, supporting unique flora and fauna. However, human encroachment is driving significant biodiversity loss, with 303 plant and 767 animal species threatened globally. Protecting peatlands is critical for safeguarding these vulnerable species and maintaining ecosystem health.

6. Peatlands exist in various landscapes, from tropical and temperate forests to mountains, tundra, and drylands. In polar and boreal regions, permafrost shapes peatland dynamics, but climate change is thawing the frozen ground and potentially promoting degradation. Peatlands are vital water sources, including in the mountains with high-altitude conditions leading to slower decomposition and greater carbon accumulation. Meanwhile, peatlands in arid regions are increasingly at risk of shrinking as climate extremes intensify.

7. Rapid urban and infrastructure development, including road and railway construction, along with industrial activities such as mining and oil and gas exploitation, cause peatland degradation, habitat fragmentation, pollution, and increased greenhouse gas emissions, posing a global threat to peatlands.

8. In temperate, tropical, and subtropical climates, drainage for agriculture, livestock farming, and oil palm plantations are the primary drivers of peatland degradation, yet ongoing research on paludiculture (sustainable wet agriculture) may offer promising sustainable alternatives.

9. Peatland drainage leads to peat subsidence (land loss and shrinkage) and increases flood risk, particularly in regions where peatlands are already vulnerable to floods, along major rivers, coastlines, and at the base of mountains.

10. Drained peatlands are highly vulnerable to smoldering fires during dry seasons, releasing significant greenhouse gas emissions and hazardous haze detrimental to human health. In contrast, undrained peatlands may only experience surface fires that do not penetrate the peat soil.

11. Effective protection of peatlands requires holistic water management and a landscape approach to conserve the entire hydrological catchment and preserve its valuable ecosystem services for both people and for nature.

1.1 Aim and purpose of the Atlas

Objective:

The Global Peatland Hotspot Atlas, hereafter referred to The main direct anthropogenic driver of change in peatas the "Atlas", is developed as an accompanying resource lands is drainage for agriculture and afforestation, linked to the UNEP-published Global Peatlands Assessment to urbanization and infrastructure development [1]. Other the state of the World's peatlands: Evidence for action threats to peatlands include deforestation, road and railtoward the conservation, restoration, and sustainable way construction, mining, oil and gas exploration and exmanagement of peatlands [1]. Building on the findings of ploitation, drought, overgrazing, and pollution. Europe and the Global Peatlands Assessment (GPA), the Atlas reveals parts of Asia are global peatland degradation hotspots, the status of global peatlands through a series of maps because of widespread and long-term land use change to that highlight their distribution and features on a continenagriculture, forestry, and peat extraction. tal scale, identifying hotspots and illustrating the current threats to these ecosystems due to infrastructure. urbani-Effects of changes in peatland ecosystems zation, resource extraction, land use, and climate change. addressed in the Atlas: It achieves this by intersecting the Global Peatland Map Drainage, the removal of peatland vegetation, and other 2.0 with global, spatial datasets on land use, biodiversity, land use changes have impacted many nature's contributions to people (NCPs) provided by peatlands. These protection status, and climate change-intensified events changes have led to the loss of peatland-specific biota such as peat fires and floods. The objectives are to highlight peatland diversity across the globe and identify where and biodiversity [3, 4], reduced their capacity for water current and future impacts could jeopardize ecosystem supply and regulation [5], and halted carbon sequestration functionality, including the provision of essential ecosyswhile depleting drained peat stores, resulting in net GHG tem services, resilience towards climate change, water emissions [6]. provision and purification, and biodiversity protection. Furthermore, the Atlas highlights the global potential for Furthermore, the lowering of water levels leads to an impeatland protection, conservation, restoration, and sustaimediate reduction in landscape cooling through evaponable management, while spotlighting regions of particutranspiration and contributes to the loss of peatland-spelar vulnerability for future planning and development. cific biodiversity. Nitrogen mineralization, induced by peat

Status and degradation:

Status: The extent of peatlands worldwide is approximately 488 million hectares, equivalent to 3.8% of the total global surface area, with a carbon stock of about 600.000 Mt. Nearly 12% of global peatlands are degraded to the extent that peat is no longer actively forming, and the accumulated peat is disappearing. Around the world, around 19% of peatlands are found within protected areas. Yet 500,000 hectares (~ 0.1%) of intact peatlands are destroyed annually by human activities. This is 10 times faster than the average rate of peatland expansion during the Holocene [2]. This results in annual GHG emissions from peatlands of 1,941 Mt CO₂e per year [1].

Intact peatlands are primarily found in remote regions, distant from international markets, within the (sub)arctic, boreal, and tropical zones. In contrast, modified or degraded peatlands predominate in temperate and (sub)tropical regions, within areas with significant industrialization, urban development, and intensive agricultural and forestry activities.

Degradation:

oxidation, leads to nitrate emissions and eutrophication in downstream rivers, lakes, and ultimately seas and oceans [7]. Peatland subsidence - following peatland drainage increases the risks of saltwater intrusion in coastal areas, and the risk of severe flooding generally through both land sinking and land loss. This, in combination with rising sea levels due to global warming, poses a particular threat to low-lying coastal cities and other densely populated areas located nearby or even built directly on coastal peatlands and Small Island Developing States (SIDS).

1.2 Global Peatland Map 2.0



Map 1.2.1 Global peatland distribution [1, 22]

The GPM 2.0 [1, 22] has been compiled by merging over 200 individual datasets of varying scales, which describe the extent of peatlands, organic soils, histosols, and include suitable proxy data indicating permanent water surplus. Following the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), no minimum thickness for the organic layer was specified to account for the often historically determi- data', additional peatland mapned, country-specific definitions of peat and peatland. However, where such information was available, a threshold of >12% Soil Organic Carbon (SOC) was applied to account for the relevant datasets. The input data for will be updated in future versithe GPM 2.0 were sourced from the Global Peatland Database

(GPD) and accessed from the World Wide Web. Most of the spatial data included represent 'peatlands', 'organic soils', or 'histosols' (Map 1.2.2) and were obtained from external sources such as scientific publications on soil and peatland research, national agencies, online repositories, or directly from researchers (Map 1.2.3). To fill gaps in the coverage of these 'external ping was conducted using several methods (Map 1.2.3).

Users of the GPM 2.0 should note that this map does not yet cover all global peatlands and ons. Smaller peatlands, which can be numerous within certain

prehensively. Moreover, the map includes 'probable' peatland areas where, based on ancillary data, landscape position, and remote sensing signal, peatlands can be expected but have not been confirmed on the ground [23]. These areas are included to raise awareness and encourage more comprehensive mapping and assessment in regions where peatlands have been underrepresented or previously overlooked. For more detailed information on the methods, input data origin, and references used for the GPM 2.0, see Annex III of the Global Peatland Map 2.0 of the Global Peatlands Assessment.

regions, are not covered com-

The Atlas builds on the **Global Peatlands Assess**ment and accompanying **Global Peatland Map 2.0. It** provides the most relevant hotspot maps in a redesigned format and introduces several new maps.

The Global Peatland Map 2.0 (GPM 2.0) was produced through the Global Peatlands Assessment (GPA) to compile the most up-to-date data on peatlands location and extent globally. It shows peatland occurrences divided into two classes: '1'=peat dominated, and







'2'=peat in soil mosaic. The assignment of these two classes was informed by ancillary peat occurrence information, satellite imagery and Digital Elevation Model (DEM) inspection, and multiple expert knowledge. The GPM 2.0 allows decision-makers to scope potential regions

for conservation, restoration, and sustainable management of peatlands. However, it does not permit a direct 1:1 comparison with ground conditions and is unsuitable for detailed, high-resolution land use planning at the local level.

1.3 Global peatland distribution

The global distribution of peatlands [1, 22] aligns with atmospheric circulation patterns, characterized by three zones of rising air masses and high precipitation. These zones are located near the equator and around the 60° latitudes in both hemispheres (as illustrated in Map 1.3.1). The southern zone is less significant in terms of peatland distribution due to the limited landmass at these latitudes. In contrast, the northern zone is abundant in peatlands, attributed to cooler temperatures, reduced evapotranspiration, and flat topography. Closer to the poles, permafrost hinders subsurface drainage, promoting peatland formation even under conditions of extremely low precipitation. Flat landscapes with poor drainage have supported the development of the world's largest peatland regions, such as West Siberia (Asia), the Hudson Bay Lowland and Mackenzie River Basin (North America), Southeast Asia, the Congo Basin (Africa), and Western Amazonia (South America [1, 22]).

Table 1.3.1 Top 5 countries with largest peatland area per region

NORTH AMERICA

4. Saint Pierre and Miquelon

1. Canada

(119,377,000 ha)

2. United States

(38.813.000 ha)

3. Greenland

(8 000 ha)

(2.800 ha)

5. Bermuda

(25 ha)

ASIA

1. Asian Russia

2. Indonesia

3. China

(118,500,000 ha)

(20,949,000 ha)

(12,885,443 ha)

2.700.000 ha`

(2,530,100 ha)

4. Mongolia

5. Malaysia

Additionally, peatlands may occur anywhere where the local climate, substrate, topography, and hydrology create conditions for permanently wet soils. However, they are less common and extensive in subtropical regions around 30° N and 30° S, where descending dry air caused by global atmospheric circulation limits their formation. In these areas, peat development is influenced by moist air masses resulting from ocean currents and the Earth's rotation. Peatlands are also found on the windward sides of mountains, where ascending air cools and condenses vapor, leading to increased rainfall (such as on the western side of the Cordillera Mountains in South America) and in floodplains that receive substantial water flow from rain-fed mountain rivers (like the Brahmaputra, Mississippi, and Rio Paraná [1, 22]).

This results in peatlands being found in at least 177 out of the 193 UN member states (Maps below).

EUROPE

2. Finland

3. Sweden

4. Norway

5. Belarus

(8,313,381 ha)

(6,797,032 ha)

(4.865.000 ha)

(3,014,298 ha)

1. European Russia

(20.800.000 ha)

LATIN AMERICA

(26,019,489 ha)

(7.651.400 ha)

3. Colombia

(5.407.898 ha)

4. Venezuela

5. Argentinia

(3,031,659 ha)

(5,307,400 ha)

1. Brazil

2. Peru



AUSTRALASIA

(4.469.008 ha)

(2.500.000 ha)

3. Australian Alps

4. New Caledonia

5. Solomon Islands

2. Australia

(269,363 ha)

(20.000 ha)

(10,000 ha)

1. Papua New Guinea

Figure 1.3.1 Global Peatland Area [1, 23]

2. Republic of the Congo

1. Democratic Republic of the Congo

AFRICA

(18.157.111 ha)

(9,540,799 ha)

3. Nigeria

⊿. Zambia

5. Angola

(891,630 ha)

(2,155,663 ha)

(1,565,696 ha)







Global peatland distribution is influenced by atmospheric circulation patterns - movements of air driven by temperature and pressure differences - resulting in a higher prevalence of peatlands in boreal regions and the

1.4 Peatland within global climate zones

Regional humidity and temperatures are significant factors influencing the development of peatlands around the world. Since the Köppen-Geiger climate humid temperate climates, 2) classification system [5] defines climate by patterns of temperature and precipitation, it provides a rough indication of where peatlands occur worldwide. Furthermore, the Köppen-Geiger cal peatland types also occur climate classification highlights that peatlands exhibit similar characteristics in terms of the type of water supply and dominant vegetation across recur-

ring climatic zones on different continents. For instance, and simply put, we see **1**) mosses prevailing in arctic, boreal and grass-like plants prevailing in more arid temperate and subtropical climates, and 3) trees prevailing in tropical climates. However, additional ecologiacross all climate zones, often exhibiting distinct characteristics along coastal regions and with increasing altitudes. The vast peatlands in the arctic and boreal climates of the north and also of peatlands in the temperate climate zones are widely known. Peatlands of the tropical rainforest and monsoon climates are increasingly receiving attention. Surprisingly, peatlands are also found in subtropical savannah, steppe and arid climate zones, particularly in major river floodplains, fed by excess rain in their headwater mountains, or in coastal zones and oases, when they may receive sufficient groundwater from large catchments [1, 22].

erate Without Dry Season

Map 1.4.2 Peatland distribution in climate zones [1, 22, 24]

mosses

Differing climatic conditi-

ons on Earth play a crucial

role in shaping distinct ty-

pes of peatlands. Each uni-

que set of conditions deter-

specific peatland types with

mines the development of

different hydrological and

ecological characteristics.

grasses

trees

Most common plants groups in peatlands

under different major climates (simplified):

Cold Without Dry Season

Tropical Monsoon



mapping/en/



2.1 Peatland biodiversity

Biodiversity includes species diversity, ecosystem diversity, and genetic diversity, all of which are critical for the health and resilience of our planet, lives, and livelihoods. Peatland ecosystems are found around the world, with each region, elevation, and landscape setting from the arctic to the tropics contributing uniquely to the balance necessary for sustaining biodiversity. Protecting, conserving, and sustainably managing a variety of peatlands across all regions is fundamental for safeguarding species, ecosystem, and genetic diversity. It also helps preserve the vital ecosystem services these landscapes provide, both locally and globally, supporting migratory pathways and regulating the Biodiversity within peatlands exhydrological and carbon cycles.

Peatlands serve as essential habitats for rare, threatened, and types-such as bogs, fens, coendemic flora and fauna species. They also house common species that help maintain ecological balance, enhancing the ecosystem services they provide. Additionally, migratory species rely on peatlands as important nursery and stopover points during their life cycle journey, further connecting peatlands and promoting gene flow and interactions across landscapes. Peatlands in the northern hemisphere, particularly in boreal and arctic regions, exhibit lower species richness compared to tro-

pical regions, but remain crucial for their role in the landscape. They harbor keystone species, such as Sphagnum mosses, which significantly shape peatland structure and functioning by regulating hydrology and playing a key role in carbon cycling through their effects on microbial communities.

In the northern subtropics and southern hemisphere, peatlands are biodiversity hotspots, exhibiting a very high degree of species richness and diversity while also supporting a complex range of ecological processes and services connected across the basin and across the water continuum.

tends beyond individual species and encompasses the ecosystem diversity of various peatland astal marshes and mangroves, or peat swamp forests --which harbor abundant and distinct plant and animal life. However, peatlands face increasing human encroachment, leading to rapid declines in biodiversity.

Currently, 303 plant species and 767 animal species within global Map 2.1.1 Rarity-weighted species richness on peatland [22, 25] peatland ecosystems are classified as 'vulnerable,' 'endangered,' or 'critically endangered,' with around 3/4 of these species found in Africa, Asia, and Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC [1, 22]).

Peatlands are safe havens for rare and threatened species. Protecting them safeguards the habitats of countless unique animals and plants reliant on these vital ecosystems.

The rarity-weighted richness index [3] combines metrics of endemism and species richness. It provides an indication of how important a given area is for the assessed groups whose distribution overlap by aggregating rarity values. (sd= standard deviation)

| occurrence |
|-------------------------------|
| high |
| |
| IOW |
| peatland distribution |
| rarity-weighted species richn |
| high (> mean) |
| very high (> mean + sd |
| |





The Zapata Wren (Ferminia cerverai) is an en dangered bird endemic to Cuba, primarily found in the dense, cattail-dominated wetlands and peatlands of the Zapata Swamp.

Prionium serratum) is an endemi

semi-aquatic grass found in the valley bottom

host many rare species, but face threats from

draining, agriculture, grazing, afforestation, and

fens of South Africa's Western and Eastern

Cape. These palmiet dominant peatlands

infrastructure development.



semi-aquatic endangered turtle native to the eastern United States of America, facing decline due to habitat loss from urbanization and invasive plants

PotMart186, CC BY-SAPIXNIO CCO 4.0



The Eastern Ground Parrot (Pezoporus wallicus wallicus) occurs in western mainland Australia Tasmania, and some offshore islands. It thrives in marshy coastal plains without trees and in reed beds with low shrubs, relying on naturally occurring fires to reproduce and colonize new areas





The Blue Iridescent Firefly (Lycaena helle) oc curs in Central, Fastern and Northern Europe, as well as parts of Siberia and Mongolia. It inhabits fens with snake knotweed (Bistorta officinalis), wet tall herbaceous meadows, transitional mires, and sparse peatland forests. Its greatest threat is habitat destruction resulting from the conversion of peatlands through drainage



Tropical peat swamp forests are the mos widespread peatland ecosystems in Southeast Asia, home to at least 1.524 plant species, including a large number of mosses, ferns and fungi, They exhibit the highest floristic peatland diver sity globally and support a significant portion of the region's fauna, including 123 mammal species, 268 bird species, and 219 freshwater fish species [4]

2.2 Peatland in permafrost



Map 2.2.1 World permafrost distribution [28]

Permafrost peatlands exist within the permafrost zones of several northern hemisphere countries, spanning over 1.4 million square kilometers with a peat layer thicker than 40 centimeters, and encompassing an even larger area with shallower peat [1]. Additional- with weaker occurrences on the Canadian Shield, Northeast China, ly, extensive permafrost peat deposits can be found far outside the and the East European Plain. Climate change and permafrost thapolar and sub-polar regions. For example, they occur in Mongolia and on the Qinghai-Tibetan plateau, where mountain ranges inhibit

the inland movement of warm oceanic air and winter temperatures are very low [22]. Hotspots of urban areas on permafrost peatlands occur in the Western Siberian lowland, Yakutia and Mongolia, wing are likely to have a destabilizing effect on the infrastructure in these regions.



Figure 2.2.1 Relationships between permafrost, peat, plants, and water [27]

Permafrost and the role of peat, logy, structure, peat formation, plants, and water

The presence of a permanently cold climate with frost, natural thawing, and freezing at the soil surface influences the hydro-

and vegetation of peatlands. While peat formation depends on permafrost conditions, it also stabilizes and favors such conditions in the soil. And,

the ice within the peat layer provides stability and prevents peat subsidence and erosion (Figure 2.2.1 [27]).

Map 2.2.2 Permafrost-affected peatland [22, 28]

Permafrost conditions significantly influence the dynamics and structures of peatlands in polar/arctic and boreal regions, with climate change strongly degrading or altering them by thawing permafrost.













Figure 2.2.2 Temperature rise globally and in the arctic zone [28]

With global warming and the consequent rise in temperature (Figure 2.2.2 [28]), permafrost soils and peatlands are thawing at an increasing rate. This could lead to waterlogging, changes in water flow patterns, drainage, and eventually the decomposition of peat, which would release vast amounts of greenhouse

2.3 Mountain peatland and water supply



extreme spatial heterogeneity. The combination of altitude, climate, topography and land cover creates complex, nested mosaics of habitat conditions across various spatial scales. Globally, higher elevations receive more precipitation and experience lower temperatures, and the **slowed down organic matter** higher altitudes [1, 29].

to peat and carbon accumulation in very wet terrain depressions, valley bottoms, plateaus, or as blankets in alpine climates. However, the climate of different mountain ranges varies significantly worldwide, as mountain climates are regional variations of broader climatic conditions in



The most important mountain ranges for the occurrence of peatlands per continent and their connection to large rivers (GRDCv2 2020) as their source area/head waters [1, 22, 33, 34]. For numbers see Table 2.3.1 (left). Mountain distribution after Snethlage et al. (2022); green >1000 m.a.s.l. and orange >2000 m.a.s.

> Mountains are highly significant regions in the context of climate change and sustainable development, situated at he crossroads of accelerated global warming and significant numan dependence. As highly ragile and vulnerable environ

ments, mountains are hotspots of climate-related losses in ecosystems and habitability, often accompanied by challenging socioeconomic circumstances for the rural communities residing within them [5, 6].

Table 2.3.1 The most important mountain ranges for the occurrence of peatlands per continent (Map 2.3.2 [1, 22, 33]). Please note that the GPM 2.0 does not provide adequate coverage for all these mountain ranges ve

| ASIA | NORTH AMERICA | LATIN AMERICA | EUROPE | AFRICA | AUSTRALASIA |
|---|---|--|---|--|--|
| 1. Himalaya (IND, CHN, PAK) | 1. Rocky Mountains (USA, CAN) | 1. Andes (PER, COL, ECU, CHL, ARG) | 1. Alps (GER, AUT, CHE, ITA, FRA) | 1. Albertine Rift Valley | West Coast Range (Tasmania, AUS) |
| 2. Altai Mountains & Mongoli- an Highlands (MNG, TJK, RUS, KAZ) | 2. Brooks Range of Alaska (USA , Canada) | 2. Brazilian Highlands (BRA) | 2. Grampian Mountains (Scotland, GBR) | 2. Angola Highlands (AGO) | 2. New Guinea Highlands (PNG) |
| 3. Verkhoyansk Mountain System (RUS) | 3. Sierra Nevada (USA) | 3. Guiana Highlands (BRA, VEN) | 3. SW Scandinavian Moun- tains (NOR) | 3. Ethiopian Highlands (ETH) | 3. Australian Alps (AUS) |
| 4. Aldan Mountains (RUS) | 4. Coast and Cascade Ranges (W-USA, W-CAN) | 4. Cordillera Central (PAN, CRI) | 4. Central European Uplands (GER, FRA, CZE, SVK, POL) | 4. Ankaratra Massif (MDG) | 4. Southern Alps (NZL) |
| 5. Kolyma Mountains (RUS) | 5. Appalachian Mountains (USA) | | 5. Pyrenees (FRA, ESP) | 5. Cameroone Line (CMR) | |

Mountain peatlands differ in both structure and function from lowland peatlands. While smaller with relatively lower carbon storage capacity, they oc-



ith peat hills erodet by intersecting water channels [8]

Mountain peatlands are vital headwaters for rivers and water bodies, essential for supplying water to both biodiversity and humans. Altitude influences temperature and precipitation, resulting in slowed organic matter decomposition and increased carbon accumulation at higher elevations in these ecosystems.

Figure 2.3.1 Stratigraphy of typical high altitude mires in Uzbekistan: a) sloping mire, b) sloping spring mire, c) spring mire, d) sloping mire



-~

2.4 Peatland in dryland



Map 2.4.1 Peatland in arid and sub-arid climate [22, 24]

There are numerous significant impacts on wetlands and peatlands in drylands, including drainage, agriculture, overgrafrom agricultural areas), erosion, and climate change, all of which disrupt flooding patterns. wetland shrinkage in drylands Among these, the most serious **is pronounced at the regional** impact comes from large-scale water abstraction, severely affecting wetland ecosystems in **extremes** [36]. There are many the world's arid zones. The fate

construction, and agriculture (Satellite images by Google Earth).

Figure 2.4.2 Wetland loss in the Hammar marshes (Irag) from 1984-2020 due to drainage, dam

of the Aral Sea starkly underscocline (including peatlands): Lake res the urgent need to preserve the wetlands. Its significant drying has resulted in fragmentati**zing, pollution (including runoff** on, ecosystem degradation, and severe impacts on local economies and livelihoods. The risk of level and is expected to worsen with increasing climate examples of these wetlands' de-



Chad in Africa has experienced lowering water levels, adversely impacting fish populations and other wildlife, and leading to the desertification of former wetlands and the loss of arable land [38]. In China's dry inland areas, wetlands have declined by about 70,000 hectares over the past 40 years [37, 39]. The substantial ecological degradation of wetlands in southeastern Australia during the millennial drought (2001–2009) highlights their vulnerability to climate change [40, 41]. Accelerated by climate change, it is projected that at least 6,000 dryland wetlands worldwide will disappear by 2100 [36].





Figure 2.4.1 Regional wetland loss in major river basins since 1700. Considerable wetland loss has been recorded for several large river catchments in arid climates, e.g., for the Indus, Tigris and Euphrat, Syr-Darja, Nile, and the Niger river. These catchments partially include peatlands [35]

Aridity characterizes drylands that severely lack available water, hindering or preventing the growth and development of plant and animal life. There are two subtypes: 1) hot or cold arid-desert climates, showing severe excess of evaporation over precipitation, and 2) hot or cold sub-arid or steppe climates, being intermediates between desert and humid climates. Drylands occur on every continent in the world [24], covering 33 % of the Earth's land surface, including 57 % of Africa, 69 % of Australia, and 84 % of the Middle East. The largest peatland extents in such drylands occur

Peatland in dryland, whether in hot or cold steppe and desert climates, face significant regional shrinkage risks that will worsen as climate extremes intensify.

under cold steppe and desert climates in Central Asia, parts of the Andes, and the Volga-Delta region in Kazakhstan, where they are potentially related to permafrost or water discharge from connected mountain ranges. Peatlands under hot steppe and desert climates occur primarily in sub-Saharan Africa (Lake Chad, Barotse Floodplain, and the Okavango Delta), as well as in coastal areas of the Gulf of California and the Gulf of Mexico. Arid swamps vary from fresh to saline waters as they dry out, supporting grass, sedge, herb, shrub or tree vegetation [1, 22].



3.1 Peatlands of Africa



Map 3.1.1 Peatland distribution in Africa [1, 22]



N-African Mediterranean marsh, II N-African dryland grassy marsh, III N-African flooded grassland, IV W-African wooded savannah marsh, V (Sub-)tropical savanna marsh, VI Horn of Africa dryland narsh, VII African mountain compound fen and bog, VIII African owland (peat) swamp, IX Zambesi and Okavango flooded grassland, X S-African dryland grassy marsh, XI S-African Mediterranean marsh, XII W-Madagascar coastal and upland marsh, XIII E-Madagascar mangrove, coastal marsh and (peat) swamp, XIV African mangrove, coastal marsh and (peat) swamp





 Total peatland area: 39 million ha • Distribution: Congo Basin, Albertine Rift, Madagascar, Highlands of Zambia and Angola, West-African coast • Peatland cover over total regional surface area: 1 % Share of global peatland area: 8 % • Degraded peatlands: 8 % Annual GHG emissions from peatlands: 130 Mt CO₂e / yr Share of global GHG emissions from peatlands: 7 % Peatlands within protected areas: 35 % Top 5 countries with largest peatland area: 1. Democratic Republic of the Congo (18,157,111 ha) 2. Republic of the Congo (9,540,799 ha) 3. Nigeria (2,155,663 ha) 4. Zambia (1,565,696 ha) 5. Angola (891,630 ha) Total peatland carbon stock: 36,896 Mt C [77] Threatened peatland species: Flora: 66 VU, 80 EN, 30 CR; Fauna: 81 VU, 66 EN, 31 CR [79] Ramsar Wetlands of International Importance with peat: 31 sites (7.3 % of total Ramsar sites in Africa [78])

RoC

DRC

Gabon

Nigeria

Chad

Mali

Guinea

Liberia

Tanzania

Guinea-Bissau

others subtotal

Madagascar

South Africa

Rwanda

0%

Figure 3.1.1 Status of peatlands (% [1, 23])

20 %

40 %

60 %

drained for forestry, agriculture & peat extraction

80 %

undrained & other uses

100 %



Africa, the second-largest landmass on Earth, boasts a diverse range of peatland

types. They prevail in various regions, including the tropical zone, in mountains and on plateaus, along the coast, and in river floodplains and deltas (Map 3.1.1). The Central Congo Basin is home to the world's second-largest tropical peatland complex, including hardwood swamp forests and palm-dominated swamp forests. This region features three wetlands of international importance (Ramsar sites): the Grands Affluents and Lac Télé/Likouala-Aux-Herbes in the Republic of Congo, and the Ngiri-Tumba-Maindombe in the Democratic Republic of Congo. In 2017, both countries agreed to jointly manage these sites, creating the largest transboundary Ramsar site in the world, covering over 129,000 square kilometers of highly diverse peatland ecosystems. Many peatlands in sub-Saharan Africa are associated with large river systems such as the Sahelian and Zambezian floodplains, as well as flooded savannahs, where mineral and organic soils are closely intertwined and organic-rich floating mats occur. Recently, larger peatlands have been identified in West Africa, specifically in Côte d'Ivoire and Nigeria, situated in river floodplains dominated by Raphia peat swamp forests and mangroves. Moreover, the mountains and equatorial lakes of the Great Rift Valley in East Africa host open peatlands dominated by Papyrus, grasses, and sedges, as well as Raphia-dominated peat swamp forests. Afromontane and Afroalpine peatlands featuring

drosenecio can be found above 2,000 meters above sea level in Ethiopia, Tanzania, Kenya, Rwanda, Lesotho, and South Africa [1, 22].

In the South African region, peatlands are the best explored on the continent and are predominantly located along the east coast where they include forested peatlands and mangroves, such as those found in the Maputaland coastal plain. In the Maghreb region of North Africa, peatlands are generally small and host alder swamps, Sphagnum fens and peaty heaths with Erica scoparia. Although only about 8% of Africa's peatlands are degraded on a continental scale, several countries already report that more than 50% of their peatlands are degraded [1]. Peatlands of South Africa. Burundi. Rwanda and Madagascar are heavily overused in both highlands and lowlands, mainly for agriculture. Peatlands in the Nile Basin are degrading at an alarming rate caused by agriculture, extraction, infrastructure development, and climate change, which severely impacts livelihoods, especially by affecting the provision of clean water. However, there are still large intact peatlands in Africa, such as the Sudd in South Sudan, the Angola Highlands, the Peat Swamp Forests along the coast of Côte d'Ivoire and the Cuvette Central in the Congo Basin [1, 22]. Unfortunately, recent initiatives have been announced that involve logging, oil and gas exploration, dam building, and infrastructure development in the Congo Basin putting these peatlands at significant risk.



3.2 Peatlands of Asia



Asia is the largest continent and also holds the largest area of peatlands worldwide [1, 22]. As the continent extends from the Arctic to the tropics, it hosts a wide variety of peatland types shaped by diverse climates, ranging from polar to tropical, and from wet to arid conditions [24]. Accordingly, peatlands differ largely in their water supply, vegetational composition and peat accumulation rates. Nearly half of the peatlands are located in the arctic and boreal zones, while about a quarter occur in the temperate zone and another quarter in the tropics. Polygonal peatlands occur in the arctic permafrost and are mainly dominated by peat mosses (Sphagnum), brown mosses, dwarf shrubs and sedge (Cyperaceae) species. Arctic peatland vegetation is not diverse, but represents unique ecosystem types. Palsa and Aapa mires in the subarctic and boreal zones maintain complex patterns of drier hummocks with dwarf shrubs, mosses and lichen, and wet hollows dominated by sedges, cotton-grass, and (Cyperaceae), grasses (Poaceae) and mosses play a greater role in peatlands of the continental temperate and subtropical zone, whereas in the tropical zone, extensive Peat Swamp Forests (PSFs) and mangroves are most prominent on peatlands, especially in SE Asia. Here, PSFs have the highest floral diversity in peatlands globally (at least 1,524 vascular plant species). Besides SE Asia, (sub-)tropical peatlands extend from coastal areas of the Bay of Bengal to the foothills of the Himalayas in





3.3 Peatlands of Europe





In Europe, peatlands are unevenly distributed, with a greater concentration in northern regions, highlands, and coastal areas (Map 3.3.1). They are sparsely distributed in steppe and broadleaf forest zones. Among all continents, Europe has experienced the highest proportional losses of actively accumulating peatlands ('mires' [1]). Nevertheless, it still harbors significant mire diversity. The Arctic Seepage and Polygonal Mire Region, covering the

northernmost part of Europe, is characterized by the wide

occurrence of tundra seepage and polygonal bogs. The Palsa Mire Region encompasses large areas in the Russian Federation, northern Finland, Sweden and Norway. The **Northern Fen** parts of England, France and Region, covering the boreal vegetation zones in northern and hillside bogs. The **Typical** Raised Bog Region is characterized by typical raised bogs and wooded raised bogs. The Atlantic Bog Region along the western European coast is defined by the wide occurrence of At-

and fens, and the Continental Fen and Bog Region is characterized by a mosaic of fens and bogs. The Nemoral-Submeridional-Fen Region covers large Germany. Flat fens are the most characteristic mire type, along-Europe, is characterized by fens side plane bogs and percolation bogs [3].

Approximately 10% of the former European peatland area has been entirely lost due to drainage for agriculture, forestry, and peat extraction, while lantic raised bogs, blanket bogs around 46% of the remaining

456 sites (40.5 % of total Ramsar sites in Europe [78])

peatland area in Europe is classified as degraded; in the EU, this figure rises to 50% [1]. As a result, Europe is the secondlargest emitter of GHG from drained peatlands globally. Additionally, climate change is contributing to peat loss in undrained peatlands through severe droughts and heatwaves, fires, changes in vegetation, and permafrost degradation. The significant and rapid loss of old permafrost driven by climate change has only just begun [44].



Map 3.3.2 Europe's peatland regionality map [42]

I Arctic seepage and polygon mire, II Palsa mire, III Northern fen (aapa mires s.l.), IV Typical raised bog, V Atlantic bog, VI Continental fen and bog, VII Nemoral-submeridional fen, VIII Colchis mire, IX Southern European marsh, X Central and southern European mountain compound



3.4 Peatlands of Latin America and the Caribbean



The (sub)tropical lowlands of the Amazon Basin harbor a great variety of peatland vegetation with e.g., pole forests, dominated by Mauritia flexuosa palms and herbaceous swamps with Typha domingensis. Mauritia flexuosa swamps extend into subtropical savannah climates, accompanied by other tree species and palms such as Roystonea dunlapiana and Pachira aquatica. Seasonally flooded forest and grassy freshwater swamps further enrich the vegetation types found in this climate zone.

On the Caribbean Sea coast. mangrove forests, open herbaceous swamps and peatlands dominated by Raphia palms occur.

In the higher altitudes of the

range of climates and ecological zones spanning from Central America to Patagonia, various types of peatlands are found within three main ecological zones: (sub)tropical lowlands, (sub)tropical mountains, and temperate systems in Patagonia [1, 22, 24].

Peatlands occur across all of the Andes, cushion plant peatlands region and therefore, in a diverse and sedge, grass and Sphagnum-dominated peatlands are found. In the very south of the continent in Patagonia, ombrotrophic Sphagnum magellani*cum* bogs and minerotrophic fens dominate. In the Guayana Shield, peatlands occur atop rocky surfaces, in depressions, floodplains, and on slopes [22].

> A notable share of the peatlands in Central America and the Caribbean have been drained for agriculture (e.g., banana, sugar cane, and oil palm cultivation), although the exact extent of peatland conversion remains unknown. Large peatlands in South America, particularly in the Amazon Basin, still appear to be intact due to their remote locations. However, peatlands in savannah climates have undergone significant alterations due to agriculture. In general, peatlands across the continent face increasing threats such as agriculture, overgrazing, drainage, mining, oil exploration and exploitation, dam building, and climate change. Future mapping efforts focused on peatland drainage and land use are likely to reveal larger degraded areas across several countries.



3.5 Peatlands of North America



Share of global peatland area (32.5% [1, 23])

widespread in the cold low arc- Fraxinus nigra, or Alnus. tic climate zone, becoming rarer towards the middle and high Arctic [1, 24]. Arctic peatlands (Pingos, Polygonal Peatlands, Palsas, in Alaska, Northwest Territories, Yukon Territory, Nunavut, northern Alberta, Saskatchewan, Greenland) often have a low peat thickness and the transition between peatlands and wet tundra is difficult to distinguish. The vegetation of arctic fens consists mainly of brownmosses (e.g., Scorpidium, Aulacomnium), sedges (e.g., Carex aquatilis, Eriophorum scheuchzeri), and grasses (e.g., Arctagrostis latifolia, Dupontia fisheri [1]).

From Alaska to Newfoundland, Labrador, and north of the prairies, peatlands cover about 25-30% of the boreal forest biome. They are shaped by latitudinal and longitudinal climate gradients, as well as the geological formations on which they lie [22, 24]. They occur as **Sphagnum** moss and spruce bogs which exhibit a variety of Sphagnum species and dwarf shrubs, whereas fens are dominated by Cyperaceae species such as Carex aguatilis, C. lasiocarpa, Trichophorum cespitosum, and wooded swamps feature trees such

In North America, peatlands are as Acer rubrum, Abies balsamea,

Sphagnum bogs, fens, kettle hole mires and wooded swamps are also found in temperate regions, such as along the east coast of the U.S. and Canada, and in the Great Lakes region, often with forest or high shrub cover. The diversity of peatlands here is determined by peat thickness, water table fluctuations, and tree density [1].

In the southeastern U.S. coast and coastal plains from Virginia southward to the Everglades of South Florida and westward along the Gulf of Mexico, swamps and 'pocosins' are common. Swamps are dominated by tree species like *Pinus*, Chamaecyparis, Taxodium, Acer, Nyssa, or Persea, while fens are characterized by Cyperaceae and Poaceae. Typical Pocosin vegetation is very acidic and dominated by pine woodlands or cedar forest. These communities occur on peatlands of poorly drained interstream flats, and peat-filled bay depressions. The wettest sites (or the center of bays) may contain only low shrubs and stunted pond pine, with beds of Sphagnum, pitcher plants (Nepenthes), and cranberry (Vaccinium [45]).

3.6 Peatlands of Oceania



Map 3.6.1 Peatland distribution in Oceania [1, 22]



Around 10% of the peatlands in Oceania are degraded, with New agricultural conversion, altered Zealand standing out where more than 70% of its peatlands have been drained for forestry, agriculture, and peat extraction. For all other countries, the estimated proportion of drained peatlands is less than 15% [1]. Across most tropical islands, coastal peatlands have been modified for agriculture. Key drivers of change in Oceania's

peatlands include drainage, catchment hydrology, climate change, and fire. Specific regions also face challenges from peat extraction, invasive alien species, and pollution. In Antarctica, fluctuations in seal and penguin populations linked to climate change act as potential drivers affecting moss peat banks [1].



Oceania is a diverse region spanning continental landmasses and climate zones, large islands, and small islands, supporting a wide variety of peatland ecosystems [1, 3]. The majority of Oceanian peatlands are dominated by the Restionaceae, Cyperaceae, Ericaceae and Myrtaceae plant families. Unique and important peat-forming ecosystems in this region include buttongrass moorlands (dominated by the Cyperaceae Gymnoschoenus sphaerocephalus) found in western Tasmania, and paper bark forests (Melaleuca), particularly found in lowland areas throughout Oceania. Moreover, sedge and rush-dominated coastal peatlands extend from subtropical Australia to Tasmania. Empodisma is another key peat-building genus of the Restionaceae family found in South Australia and on New Zealand. Peatlands in mainland Australia occur with a limited spatial extent in mountains, along the coasts and rarely in artesian springs. In Papua New Guinea, a wide range of peatland types is found in valley bottoms, behind river levees, along the coast, at lake margins and in the hectare land surface, hosting high mountains. They are dominated by montane and lowland swamp forests, tall grass fens, short grass fens, mixed sedgegrass fens, and tall sedge fens. While montane peatlands are mostly groundwater-fed fens, sub-alpine peatland types are mainly rainwater-fed bogs [1, 48, 49, 50]. 18 sites (21.4 % of total Ramsar sites in Oceania [78])

Peatlands also occur on Pacific Island Countries and Territories on raised atolls [2], dominated by Acrostichum and Cyclosorus ferns, palms, and by Eleocharis, Scirpus, Schoenoplectus or Pandanus. Additionally, peatlands are found in several volcanic calderas filled with peat from Cyperaceae (sedges), Scirpus rushes, Schoenoplectus rushes, or extensive floating peat-forming mats of sedges and rushes. Antarctic peatlands located on small islands north of the Antarctic Peninsula are formed by Chorisodontium aciphyllum and Polytrichum strictum mosses. In this region, peat layers can reach depths of up to 2 meters and be 6,000 years old, while those located farther south are typically shallower and younger. Sub-Antarctic peatlands exhibit greater plant diversity and are characterized by a predominance of vascular plants as the peat-forming species. Peat in these regions is formed from the partly decomposed litter of small trees, shrubs, grassland, megaherbs, and tundra vegetation. On Campbell Island, peat covers nearly the entire 11,300 numerous oligotrophic bogs reaching depths of up to 6 meters [1, 51].

4.1 Global peatland drainage



Artificial drainage is the most common cause of peatland degradation, leading to the deterioration of their ecological functions and ecosystem services, subsidence, and greater susceptibility to flooding and fire. Peatlands exist where a high groundwater table hampers the decomposition of organic material. As a result production of organic matter is larger than

decomposition, leading to the formation and accumulation of peat. However, drainage transforms peatlands from CO₂ sinks to CO₂ sources, where the intensity of GHG emissions depends on drainage depth and ditch density.

Temperate Europe and tropical Asia, particularly Southeast Asia, Europe, and central and northern account for 85% of the world's

drained peatlands (Figure 4.1.1). The vast, untouched 'peatscapes' of the boreal and arctic regions have largely survived due to their harsh climates, which limit agriculture, forestry, and human settlement. Future mapping and assessments are likely to reveal more drained peatlands in South America, Africa, southeastern Asia [1, 22]



Figure 4.1.1 Global distribution of drained peatlands (% [1, 23])

1) Drained bog, Scotland, UK © H. Joosten 2) Drained Peat Swamp Forest, Indonesia © K. van Lohuizen/NOOR 3) Drainage for peat extraction, Rwanda © S. Elshehawi 4) drainage for mushroom production, China © H. Joosten 5) Drained Pocosin peatland, USA © H. Joosten 6) Drainage for forestry, Finland © S. Vei (Wikimedia Commons) 7) Drainage for oil palm plantation, Indonesia © F.A. Aziz (CIFOR)







Deep artificial drainage is a common prerequisite for using peatlands for intensive agriculture, forestry, peat extraction, or infrastructure. This practice reduces landscape-level water availability, disturbs the ecological functions of peatlands, and transforms them from CO₂ sinks to CO₂ sources.

4.2 Global peatland degradation

Peatland degradation has multiple causes and a wide range of effects. Heavily degraded peatlands have lost crucial functions such as carbon sequestration and storage, provision of habitat for rare species, cleaning, regulating and storing water, and local climate cooling. In healthy peatlands, functional relationships exist between plants, water, and peat, with changes in one component affecting eventually

all others: vegetation changes first, followed by hydrology, and later the peat body itself. Table 4.2.1 illustrates various stages of peatland degradation, with components of increasing being affected. When more inert components are degraded (e.g., the peat itself), full restoration often requires more complex and labor-intensive efforts or even becomes impossible [52].





Figure 4.2.1 undegraded peat [53 A]



> increasing peat degradation

Peatland degradation often begins with artificial drainage, but may also result from overgrazing and trampling, oil spills and burning, waste dumping, and infrastructure development, with climate change further intensifying the degradation. Map 4.2.1 Global peatland degradation distribution at a national level [23]

The share of degrading peatlands on a national level.



Map 4.2.2 Global peatland degradation distribution at a global level [23]

The share of countries on the degrading peatlands global level.



Peatland degradation involves changes in plants, water, and peat qualities over time. The most apparent signs of degradation is vegetation change, the most grave consequences have irreversible changes in the structure and porosity of the peat by decomposition and compaction and its eventual breakdown into a cracked, crumbed, and even powder-like structure (Figures 4.2.1 and 4.2.2). In the initial stages of minimal or minor degradation, vegetation may be damaged or removed, but the hydrology and the peat remain intact (top right figure). Modest degradation involves recent drainage and vegetation change, while **moderate** degradation already shows evident changes in peatland hydraulics, though restoration still remains feasible. Major degradation occurs when long-term, deep drainage and destructive use have caused irreversible changes in the structure of the peat, making it compact and much less porous and later also loose and with newly formed macropores. The most severe degradation is when the peat body has become completely out of hydrological balance due to subsidence, peat extraction, erosion, fire, or oxidation.

Finally, in the **maximal** stage,

most or all of the peat has been removed or oxidized, causing the peatland to virtually cease being a peatland [53 A,B]. In more than 30 countries, especially in Europe and Asia, where peatlands have long been used for the production of food, fodder, fiber and fuel, over 70% of national peatlands have been degraded (Map 4.2.1 [23]). Notably, only a few countries account for the majority of global peatland degradation, with over 50% attributed to Indonesia, Russia, Finland and China (Map 4.2.2). Among these, only Indonesia is a hotspot of peatland restoration and raising water levels over substantial peatland areas Overall, future peatland mapping is likely to reveal more degradation in other regions as well.

Marginalized communities, particularly women, who depend on peatlands for water and essential resources, including food security, are significantly affected by peatland degradation. This degradation undermines the ecosystem services these areas provide, disproportionately impacting vulnerable communities that rely on these natural resources to sustain their livelihoods [1].

4.3 Global greenhouse gas emissions from peatland







**Global Carbon Project 2020

Map 4.3.3 GHG emissions from peatland relative to emissions from fossil fuels and cement [23]

GHG emissions from degraded peatlands under forest land, cropland, grassland and peat extraction (excluding peat fires) are estimated at around 1,940 Mt CO₂e per year, which is about countries are mainly located in 4% of total global anthropogenic GHG emissions. Indonesian peatlands emit almost 668 Mt CO₂e per year, followed by the Russian Federation and China with about 230 Mt CO₂e and 140 Mt CO2e per year, respectively (Figure 4.3.3; Map 4.3.1 [1, 23]. These three countries contribute half of the total annual GHG emissions from drained organic soils. However, Indonesia is making major efforts to rewet peatlands, which is not yet emissions from peatlands with included in the data presented

here. 85% of global peat-related GHG emissions are caused by 25 UNFCCC member states that lands contribute significantly to each emit more than 10 million the national GHG budget and tons of CO₂e per year. These Europe, Asia and North America. Madagascar is the only African nation represented, with no countries from South America included. However, this may change with increasing knowled- land is drained, the greater the ge about peatland distribution and condition increases. Map 4.3.2 shows countries with high emissions per unit total national land area, likely indicating a high density of deeply drained peatlands. Map 4.3.3 compares ons increase. emissions from fossil fuels and

cement. It highlights countries where emissions from peatshould be considered their NDC strategies. Water plays a crucial role in peatland GHG emissions. There is a clear relationship between mean annual water levels and annual emissions (CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O). The deeper a peatrelease of greenhouse gases (Figure 4.3.1). In the context of climate change mitigation, the optimal mean annual water level depth ranges between 10 and 0

cm below the surface. At higher Figure 4.3.1 Relationship between mean annual water level (in cm to surface) and GHG em ons in peatlands in temperate Europe levels of flooding, CH₄ emissi-



Map 4.3.2 GHG emissions from peatland per unit land area [23

Figure 4.3.3 Greenhouse Gas Emissions from peatlands: 25 key countries emitting 85 % of GHG emissions from peatlands globally. Calculation are based on drained area for forestry, agriculture, peat extraction, (incl. ditches) using IPCC emission factors for COII, CHII, NIIO, DOC [54].





Asia

LAC

Europe

Oceania

North Americ

Africa



















GHG emissions from degraded peatland, estimated at around 1,940 Mt CO2e annually, account for approximately 4 % of global anthropogenic GHG emissions. Water levels play a crucial role, with deeper drainage leading to larger greenhouse gas emissions.

4.4 Transport infrastructure on peatland

Roads on peatland



Railways on peatland



Map 4.4.3 Global distribution of railways [55]

About 80% of Earth's terrestrial surface remains roadless, but this area is heavily fragmented into approximately 600,000 patches [58]. More than half of these patches are smaller than 1 km², and only 7% are larger than 100 km². The remaining roadless areas on the planet (blue colors in figure left) are crucial for sustaining habitats for biodiversity conservation and for providing globally significant ecosystem services. Intriguingly, many of these remaining roadless areas on the planet also contain - not surprisingly - vast expanses of (partly understudied) peatlands, indicated with the stars in Map 4.4.5.

Map 4.4.4 Hotspots of railways on peatland [22, 55]



Wherever roads are constructed in previously remote areas, they facilitate human access, exploitation and land cover change. In the case of peatlands, these changes often begin with vegetation removal and drainage. Other direct and indirect environmental impacts include habitat fragmentation, chemical pollution, noise distur-



Figure 4.4.1 A) Roads approaching the vast peatlands along the Rio Negro and Rio Branco of Northern Brazil in the Amazon Basin;) Roads already enabling peatland and wetland exploitation in Suriname (West of Paramaribo; satellite image by BING AERIAL)

Interestingly, the global hotspots rawmaterials. A dense rail netof roads [55] in peatlands are not situated in the intensively built-up areas of Europe and the eastern USA as Map 4.4.1 would ce comparable to the hotspots indicate, but rather in northeastern Europe (Finland) and Canada (Map 4.4.2). The abundant presence and cohesion of peatlands in the boreal zone (Map 1.3.1) probably influences this hotspot pattern (cf. Chapter 7) and maybe roads can not be

built while avoiding peatlands in ne 2010). In addition, between those regions. Railway lines are typical indi-

cators of industrialization and transportation of goods and

The construction of road, railway, and drainage infrastructure enable exploitation and land use changes, involving soil degradation, habitat fragmentation, pollution, and increased GHG emissions worldwide.

bance, increased wildlife mortality due to collisions and poaching, changes in population gene flow, and facilitation of biological invasions. Furthermore, the initial roads open up remote areas to further infrastructure proliferation, including more roads.

work is located in Europe and parts of Asia (Map 4.4.3 [55]), with hotspots of their occurrenof roads on peatland - while expanding slightly further towards central Europe (Map 4.4.4).

It is anticipated that nearly 25 million km² of paved roads and 335,000 km² of rail tracks will be added by 2050 globally (baseli-45,000 and 77,000 km² of new parking spaces will be added to accommodate passenger vehicle stock growth. Approximately 90% of this infrastructure is ex-

pected to be built in developing nations [56]. Given this, some knowledge gaps are evident, particularly considering the rapid and exuberant expansion of traffic routes into remote regions. Research priorities include investigating: 1) the effects of roads on tropical peatlands, 2) the influence of peat erosion and pipe formation processes, 3) the hydrological effects of seismic trails, 4) the ecotoxicological effects of plastic tracks, 5) chemical pollutants on peatlands resulting from vehicular access, and 6) ecological recovery after temporary roads are removed from peatlands [57].



4.5 Agriculture on peatland



Map 4.5.3 Global distribution of oil palm plantations [60]

In temperate, tropical, and subtropical climates, drainage for arable land, livestock farming, and oil palm plantations are the primary drivers of peatland degradation, yet ongoing research on paludiculture offers promising sustainable alternatives.



Hotspots of cropland and palm oil plantations globally occur in central and eastern Europe,

Northeast China, Bangladesh, Indonesia, the Great Lakes region in the USA, and on the Canadian Shield (Map 4.5.2 and Map 4.5.4 [1, 22, 59, 60]). When agriculture is practiced on organic soils, the wetlands are usually deeply drained to provide the necessary conditions for the crops. Map 4.5.6 shows the regional distribution of major agricultural systems globally – of which rainfed agriculture prevails on drained peatland in the temperate and tropical zones, accompanied by irrigated rice.

Deeply drained and regular-Iy plowed peat soils undergo rapid peat oxidation and compaction. Soil degradation and

subsidence of the soil surface, make them increasingly susceptible to flooding, land slides and











ultivation, Rwanda © S. Elshehawi

Vegetable growing, Brazil © F. I

arrot field, Smøla, Norway © H. Joosten:

© H. Joosten Aloe vera field, Indonesia

Tilled field, Germany © G.

Rice cultivation, R

erosion, ultimately resulting in the loss of agricultural land [61]. Ongoing subsidence requires drainage infrastructure to be deepened continuously, literally "bogging the peatland down", which is described as "the vicious cycle of drained peat soils utilisation". Known regions with peatland subsidence and its relation to cropland on peatlands are shown on the Map 4.5.5. Recent research reveals that emissions from organic-rich agricultural ('peaty') soils with soil organic carbon (SOC) contents of 6-18% are likely highly underestimated in peatlandrich countries, as they are often treated as low-emitting mineral soils in national greenhouse gas inventories.

Increasing research on paludiculture (farming on wet and

rewetted peatlands) may provide alternatives to the current destructive practices of draining peatlands for agriculture and oil palm plantations. In regions where peatlands are predominantly used for food production, land use strategies could include shifting food production to mineral soils and using the rewetted peatlands for producing biomass for fodder, fiber and fuel (in temperate zones) and restoring degraded mineral soil cropland to reduce pressure on peatlands (e.g., in tropical East Africa and Indonesia).

Shallow-drained peatlands

used for subsistence farming are common in certain parts of Africa. They consists of handdug shallow ditches surrounding small cropland parcels. The GHG emissions from these cropping systems are still unknown.

4.6 Urbanisation on peatland

Populated places on peatland



Urban areas on peatland



The overall trend of rapid urbanization poses imminent threats to peatlands in rural areas and those near large cities due to drainage and degradation associated with urban development.

Globally, densely populated areas are located close to the their deltas (Map 4.6.1). The most prominent global hotspots of populated places on peatlands are seen in Indonesia, Bangladesh, and the lowlands of Kerala, India (Map 4.6.2). Additionally, the peatland area

data aligns with several major cities and densely populated world's oceans, major rivers and rural areas worldwide. However, comparing these population density hotspots (Map 4.6.2) with urban area hotspots on peatlands (Map 4.6.4) reveals that the densely populated peatlandrich regions, particularly in Asia, have more rural settlements, as

Map 4.6.4 does not include rural settlements. Several population density hotspots around specific larger cities (Map 4.6.3) do not appear as strong urban area hotspots (Map 4.6.4), suggesting that these cities may still maintain a rural character with small houses, backyards, shanty towns, and unpaved roads, as



seen in the Barotse Floodplain (SW-Zambia), the Brahmaputra Floodplain (Bangladesh) or on Borneo (Indonesia).

The hotspots of urban areas in Western Siberia correspond to very extensive peatland areas in cities with populations ranging from a few tens of thousands

to over a million inhabitants (e.g., Chanty Mansysk, Surgut, Nizhnevartovsk), which are characterized as centers of urban of peatland extension, but which do not represent significant urban area hotspots on a global

scale (see Chapter 7. Methods).

Urban areas with high population densities and extensive built infrastructure on or near peatlands are more common in the northern hemisphere (Map 4.6.3) In contrast, highly populated rural regions and less developed large cities on or near peatlands are more prevalent in the global south (Map 4.6.1). In 2009, the world's urban population surpassed the portion of







people living in rural areas (Figure 4.6.1). This marks a profound shift towards urbanization, with projections indicating that by 2030, approximately five billion people will live in urban centers, with major increases particularly in Africa and Asia (Figure 4.6.2). Despite occupying less than 5% of the Earth's landmass. urban centers consume over two-thirds of the world's

energy and are responsible for over 70% of CO₂ emissions. In addition, cities require huge inputs of resources that impact areas well beyond their immediate boundaries. Therefore, peatlands in formerly rural areas and those adjacent to large cities in Africa and Asia face imminent threats from drainage, construction and pollution associated with urbanization

4.7 Mining, oil, and gas deposits on peatland

Mining on peatland



Oil and Gas deposits on peatland



Oil and gas exploration has historically led to the pollution of peatlands, especially in Canada (370,000 ha affected), and Russian Siberia. Moreover, several regions are currently under threat from oil and gas development, including the Magdalena, Oriente and Marañón River Basins (South America), the Gulf of Mexico, the Great Lakes region (USA), the West African coast, the Central European Plains, the Brahmaputra River Basin, the island of Sumatra, and the northeastern plains of China (Map 4.7.3). In the tropics, oil field exploration and development contribute to deforestation and habitat loss, along with other environmental impacts such as pollution from oil spills and production water (well brine).

Notably, 8.3% (107,000 km²) of the total area of tropical peatlands overlaps with a 30 km buffer zone around oil and gas infrastructure [1, 22, 65].



Figure 4.7.2 Extraction infrastructure and pipe lines on peatlands: A) scheme of an in-situ oil pad built on peatland (Canada [1]); B) foundation of a oil pad on peatland (Canada); C) gas pipeline on peatland in Russian Arctic; D) oil infrastructure and contamination in wetland/peatland of the Pastaz-Marañón Basin in Peru

The global extraction of minerals, along with oil and gas exploration and exploitation, poses significant threats to peatlands in both boreal and tropical regions.

Global extraction of minerals has grown at an unprecedented pace in the past decades, causing a wide range of environmental impacts around the world. Surface mining involves the removal of all surface vegetation. soils. and near-surface geological deposits, resulting in habitat fragmentation, ecosystem degradation, biodiversity sion of mining in the peat-rich loss, and pollution of rivers and land. Many oil sands deposits are extracted using in situ methods, requiring the construction of production platforms (wells) and associated infrastructure, including access roads, pipelines and processing plants [1].

In the peat-rich boreal regions of North America and Asia, there is Iron C a high risk of peatland destruction by mining and oil extraction. For instance, the discovery of extensive mineral deposits in the Hudson Bay Lowlands region has led to numerous active mining sites covering more than 200,000 hectares. The expanboreal and subarctic regions of North America could affect large areas of peatlands in the coming decades. Additionally, peatlands in Indonesia, Tasmania, the UK. Ireland, Sweden, Finland, European Russia and Northeast China overlap significantly with ongoing mining activities [22, 64].



Figure 4.7.1 Commodities with > 100 active mi nes globally between 2000 and 2017 [after 64]



4.8 Flood events, flooding risk, subsidence on peatland

Drainage in peatlands causes the peat to shrink by compaction and oxidation and the peat surface to subside, a process exacerbated by fires that burn away the upper peat layers burn. land remains drained or all peat The irreversible reduction in pore space resulting from oxidation and compaction reduces

the peat's capacity to store water and regulate water flow. As the peatland lowers, the risk of flooding increases. Subsidence continues as long as the peathas disappeared. By subsidence, increasing salt water intrusion drained peatlands loose one (in the temperate zone) up to five

meters of height (in the tropics) within a century, leading to severe damage to buildings and infrastructure, the necessity to build dykes and pumps to keep the land dry, and near the sea, to which threating soil productivity [1, 61].



Map 4.8.1 Large flood events (2001-2020 [66])

Map 4.8.2 Hotspots of large flood events on peatland (2001-2020 [22, 66])

100-year flooding risk on peatland

Large, past flood events on peatland



Map 4.8.3 Areas at risk from 100-year flooding [67]



Map 4.8.4 Hotspots of peatland at risk from 100-year flooding [22, 67]

Potential land subsidence on peatland



Large flood events [66] in peatlands frequently coincide with floodplains and deltas of major ivers, where peatlands are com- be severely affected by floods in monly found (1=Ganges+Brahmaputra, 2=Yangtze, 3=several rivers on Sumatra, 4=Nile, 5=several rivers in the UK, 6=Mississippi, 7=Rio Parana). Additionally, floods occur in peatlands located at the base of mountain ranges (8= Andes, 9=African Rift Valley) (Map 4.8.2 [22]).

Oceania

Europ

and 4.8.4), and potential land subsidence (Maps 4.8.5 and 4.8.6), as % of total peatland area

North Americ

100-year flood risk data [67] predicts that the vast northern peatlands of Siberia and North

America, as well as the large tropical peatlands in Peru, the Congo Basin and Indonesia, could the next 100 years (Map 4.8.4). This is because peatlands are often located in extensive and shallow depressions connected to large rivers, where devastating 100-year flood waters can accumulate. Smaller hotspots are again related to peatlands occurring in floodplains and deltas of major rivers is triggered by natural (e.g., tectonics) or anthropogenic factors, including peatland drainage and

degradation. Subsidence [61, 68] permanently reduces the water storage capacity of the peat of the groundwater system, creates sinkholes, damages buildings and infrastructure, and increases vulnerability to flooding. Blue circles indicate global regions where drainage has led to peatland surface lowering of up to 10 cm per year. These areas correspond with hotspots of peatland conversion for agriculture in Europe, Southeast Asia, and North America (Map 4.8.5 and 4.8.6).

* Subsidence probability high or very high (after Herrera-García et al. 2022)

Peatland drainage leads to peat subsidence and increases flood risk, particularly in regions where peatlands are already vulnerable to floods, along major rivers, coastlines, and at the bases of mountains.



Peat subsidence in the Netherlands © A. Janser

4.9 Peatland fires



Undrained peatlands in regions where regular fires are part of the natural ecosystem dynamics usually experience rapid burns that affect only the aboveground biomass over a limited area, rather than penetrating into the peat body. Such fire regime is typical for peatlands the boreal and arctic climate zones of North America and Asia, as well as in the flooded savannah landscapes across Africa (Map 4.9.1). However, also there fires are increasing in frequency and intensity in recent years due to prolonged dry periods, triggered

by climate change. Human activities such as logging, post-harvest slash-and-burn agriculture, and biomass burning or infrastructure development further exacerbate this trend [1, 69].

Deep and long-term drained

peatlands are vulnerable to large-scale, deep-seated, and long-lasting smoldering peat fires fueled by dry peat and dead biomass accumulated after land in the Western Pacific. La Niña abandonment. During climate anomalies such as El Niño years in Indonesia, extreme peat and forest fires as may occur,

like during the El Niño years of 2014, 2015, and 2019 (Map 4.9.2 [1, 22, 70, 71]). The El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO) cycle refers to the climate phenomenon when the sea surface temperatures in the eastern Pacific Ocean become warmer than average, leading to increased rainfall and flooding in the Eastern Pacific, while causing drier-than-normal conditions is the opposite phase, characterized by cooler-than-average sea surface temperatures in the eastern Pacific, which influ-

ences global weather patterns in the opposite direction. As a response to the devastating peat fires in 2015, Indonesia has started an ambitious programme to monitor and rewet drained peatland over currently almost 4 million ha, mainly by legally prescribing that water levels should not drop lower than 40 cm below ground level. Although these 40 cm are not fully secured and insufficient to stop subsidence, emissions and fires completely, this policy has reduced these hazards substan tially [72].

Undrained peatlands do experience surface fires but these do not penetrate into the peat body. In contrast, drained peatlands may suffer prolonged smoldering fires, particularly during El Niño events, resulting in significant GHG emissions and hazardous haze detrimental to human health.







Figure 4.9.1 Peatland vegetation on fire © H. Joosten



Figure 4.9.2 Arctic wildfires consume trees and peat © NPS Climate Change Response/Flick



Figure 4.9.3 Peatland after peat fin Brunei Badas © H. Joosten

5.1 Peatland protection





eatland outside protected are peatland area [ha] 7 000 00 Map 5.1.2 Peatland within and outside protected areas by region [1, 22]



Figure 5.1.1 Protected peatland area global and by region [1, 22]

Only 19% of the total peatland area worldwide is found in pro-

tected areas (Figure 5.1.1 [22, 28, 73]). Africa and South America are the continents where proportionally the highest share of peatlands is within protected areas (Map 5.1.1). Effective protection requires legal protection, management planning and implementation, monitoring, and enforcement. However, being located in a protected area does not guarantee that the protected degradation. peatlands are pristine or have high ecological and hydrological integrity. Whereas, for example, a large proportion of peatlands in protected areas in northern Asia remain largely pristine, those in protected areas in Europe are partially drained and deteriorating. While the protected status of peatlands is important, it is essential to ensure that protected area regulations are also properly implemented [1].

Peatland conservation faces challenges due to various competing land uses, particularly in regions where they are extensively used for food production, highlighting the need for regionally tailored solutions that enable both protection and sustainable use. Synergies are

best achieved through careful and integrated land use planning, stakeholder engagement (including Indigenous Peoples and Local Communities - IPLCs), promotion of gender-responsive approaches, and, most importantly, a solid knowledge of peatlands (including Local and Indigenous Knowledge Systems - LINKS), their functioning and ecosystem services, and the environmental and social costs of

Additionally, the involvement of both women and men in peatland conservation and management is essential, as their knowledge of local ecosystems can inform sustainable practices. In many regions, women are the primary caretakers of land and resources, and empowering them to engage in peatland conservation efforts can significantly enhance effectiveness. However, women often face barriers such as underrepresentation and limited access to land rights and decision-making processes. Addressing these challenges is crucial for fostering inclusive sustainable management practices and establishing long-term strategies for peatland conservation and restoration.

atlands requires holistic management and a landscape approach to conserve the entire hydrological catchment and preserve its valuable ecosystem services for both people and

6 Conclusion

The Global Peatland Hotspot Atlas is a crucial tool for understanding and addressing the urgent state of peatlands worldwide. Building on the Global Peatland Map 2.0 and the Global Peatlands Assessment, the Atlas provides a comprehensive view of peatland distribution, their ecological significance, and the increasing threats they face. Peatlands, primarily located in boreal and tropical regions, play a vital role as key Nature-based Solutions and provide essential ecosystem services through carbon storage, water regulation, and biodiversity conservation. However, human activities and climate change are driving rapid degradation, leading to biodiversity loss, heightened greenhouse gas emissions, and compromised ecosystem services.

The Atlas offers Member States and policymakers a series of thematic maps to enhance national climate strategies and make informed decisions about peatland conservation, restoration, and sustainable management. It aligns with the UNEA-4 Resolution on the Conservation and Sustainable Management of Peatlands and significantly contributes to the development of a Global Peatland Inventory, building on the efforts of the Global Peatlands Assessment. By identifying regions most vulnerable to degradation and highlighting the threats faced by peatlands, the Atlas supports the creation of targeted planning and the integration of peatlands into national climate strategies such as Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) and National Biodiversity Strategies and Action Plans (NBSAPs). Additionally, the Atlas enables civil society to gain a clearer understanding of peatland distribution and degradation, encouraging greater public awareness and engagement.

This resource also emphasizes the importance of a holistic, landscape-level approach to peatland management. Through its diverse thematic maps, the Atlas reveals that peatland conservation and restoration are global concerns, showing peatlands as complex ecosystems intricately connected to their surrounding landscapes, from tropical and temperate forests to mountains, tundra, and drylands. This highlights the need for comprehensive ecosystem and landscape restoration, integrating the conservation of hydrological catchments and the protection of peatlands within the broader ecosystem. Biodiversity conservation remains a key focus, as the Atlas emphasizes peatlands' critical role in supporting rare and threatened species.

To create these thematic maps on a global scale, the worldwide peatland occurrence (from the Global Peatland Map 2.0) was overlaid with relevant global thematic data. Many maps were designed as "Hot-spot Maps", using Kernel Density Estimation to display the density distribution of point clouds with a color gradient, offering a detailed view of peatland density. However, the final quality of these maps is inherently dependent on the resolution and accuracy of the input datasets.

While the Atlas represents a significant advancement in peatland mapping, there remain knowledge gaps in the available data. Support from national governments and local researchers is vital to complement the Global Peatland Database and enhance our understanding of peatland distribution. The next steps involve empowering member states to invest in ground-truthing efforts and encouraging academia to focus on improving mapping methods and research, especially through the use of emerging technologies. Such collaborations are crucial for refining the Global Peatland Map, ensuring that the most accurate and useful data informs effective conservation strategies.

In summary, the Global Peatland Hotspot Atlas marks a significant leap forward in peatland research and management. It offers an advanced visualization of peatland distribution and threats, setting new standards for global mapping and policy development. To address the challenges facing peatlands, immediate and coordinated action is essential to prevent further degradation, restore damaged areas, and protect these vital ecosystems. The Atlas serves as both a warning and a guide, offering actionable insights for sustainable management and biodiversity conservation, ensuring that peatlands continue to provide their invaluable services for both nature and humanity.

7 Methods

Developing hotspot maps

The Global Peatland Map 2.0 (GPM 2.0; see Map 1.2.1) and to- guality of the input data sets. pic-specific GIS layer were overlaid to visualize global peatland distribution related to 1) human impacts as e.g., land use, infrastructure development, urbanization, resource extraction, or protection, and 2) to the environ- tic levels from recent scientific ment as e.g., climate zones and climate (change) impact, biodiversity, permafrost, or altitude (Figure 7.2).

Hotspot maps illustrate the density distribution of data points across overlayed spatial dataset as color gradient. Thus, in a first step the GPM 2.0 and the selected thematic GIS data layers have been individually transferred into point data. From this new point datasets hotspot maps have been calculated with 'Kernel Density Estimation' in QGIS. During this process, the density of points around each output raster cell is calculated and visually displayed as hotspot (Figure 7.1). The defined radius and cell size of the resulting hotspots depends largely on the input data. In this study, radiuses of 10-25 geographical degrees were used.

Hotspot Maps display the complex content of global GIS data in a clear way and help understanding the essential informa-

tion easily. But, as a derived product, the final quality of the product is dependent on the Note that none of the thematic levels used were developed specifically for peatlands and few global thematic datasets may come with slight biases. However, we carefully selected themaresearch and widely accepted sources of spatial data. The GPM 2.0 was also used to develop regional peatland Atlas pages indicating main distribution centers of peatlands on continents and providing climatic and altitudinal background information, as well as pictures illustrating regional peatlands.

Sometimes, the impact of large peatland density or extent rule over thematic layer input and produces hotspots that do not represent significant hotspots on a global scale, but on a regional level.

One example are the urbanization hotspots around Khanty Mansysk, Surgut, Nizhnevartovsk in Siberian Russia (with few tens of thousands to over a million inhabitants) that area settling within the huge Western Siberian peatlands (Map 4.6.4). Another example is the rather regional hotspot of roads on peatland in the central Congo Basin (Map 4.4.2).



Figure 7.1 Hotspot Maps ('Heat Maps') are graphical representations of the point density distribution of overlaid GIS data layers and the GPM 2.0. (See also: https://plugins.ggis.org/ models/19)



Hotspot Map



Figure 7.2 Scheme of the intersection process to derive Global Peatland Hotspot maps.

Developing the peatland regionality maps (Chapter 3)

The neatland regionality man were leveloped in an iterative process mainly using A) the peatland distribution of the Global Peatland Map 2.0 [22], B) the WWF eco-regions [74]. C) multiple ancillary information on peatland types and their distribution from the Global Peatland

Database [75] and the w.w.w, D) global climate zonation [24], and E) topographical Information [76]. Borders of Global Peatland Regions were manually drawn using the above mentioned input data and an expert knowledge driven, manual approach. Nomenclature of peatland regions include regional names or topographic names (if needed for distinction). They

can include specific 'peatland types': e.g., 'bog', 'fen', 'paramos' or 'puna', swamp' or 'palm' (forested peatlands) or 'marsh' (open wetlands with an unclear amount of peatlands included).

lands

Be aware that these peatland regionality maps are preliminary and will undergo further consolidation ('v_01') at Greifswald Mire Centre

Developing the thematic hotspot maps Note that extensive information on the background data is available in the Global Peatland Assessment (UNEP 2022 in AN-NFX III 3)

Map 1.4.2 Peatland distribution in climate zones

By intersecting the GPM 2.0 [2] with the geographical distribution of global climate zones [24], the occurrence of peatlands in all climate zones globally was mapped and visualized in hotspot maps for peatland occurrence in specific climate zones. Map 2.1.1 Rarity-weighted species richness on peatland To show the relation between peatland distribution and biodiversity hot spots, the 'Rarity-weighted species richness index' was used - an index that combines metrics of endemism and species richness as floating points with a resolution of 10 km [25]. The dataset is based on the raw IUCN ranges for amphibians, birds, mammals, reptiles, shrimps, crabs and crayfish. High values of the index indicate high importance of an area for the considered species groups. For a reasonable presentation of the continuous values, we used the mean (0.01578) and standard deviation (0.07515). Values above the mean were considered as 'high' species richness and values above the sum of the mean and the standard deviation (0.0993) as 'very high' species richness in a specific area. Calculations and analyses were carried out with ArcGIS Pro 2.9.0, ArcMap 10.8.1 and QGIS 3.16.16-Hannover. Layouts were essentially created with QGIS 3.16.16. Map 2.2.2 Permafrost-affected peatland

The GPM 2.0 [22] and the distribution of permafrost [28] were only overlaid graphically to visualize their overlaps. Map 2.3.1 High-altitude peatland

By intersecting the GPM 2.0 [22] and a global Digital Elevation Model [76], peatland areas above 1,000 m.a.s.l. and above 2,000 m.a.s.l. were visually highlighted in the map and a hotspot map for these high altitude peatlands derived to enhance the visibility of these small peatlands on a global map.

Map 2.4.1 Peatland in arid and sub-arid climate

By intersecting the GPM 2.0 [22] with the global extent of arid climate zones ('arid desert' and 'arid steppe' [24]), the occurrence of peatlands under those climates was determined and visualized in hotspot maps. Map 4.1.1 Global peatland drainage distribution Map 4.2.1 Global peatland degradation distribution at a national level Map 4.3.1 GHG emissions from peatland per country Map 4.3.2 GHG emissions from peatland relative to emissions from fossil fuels and cement Map 4.3.3 GHG emissions from peatland per unit land area This area data has been retrieved from the 2022 update of the country-wise Global Peatland emission Database [23]. This data is partly based on the GPM 2.0 [22] - amended by manifold ancillary data (mainly from national reporting to UNFCCC, national agencies, and peatland and soil scientific papers). This data is compiled for 268 countries and regions in an iterative process. See also ANNEX III of [1] to derive estimates for the drained peatland area under agriculture, forestry and peat extraction. While multiplying these area data with emission factors for CO2, CH4, N2O, DOC and ditch emissions (mainly based on IPCC 2013 Wetland Supplement), annual, country-wise GHG emissions from used peatlands have been calculated and additionally set in relation to the emissions from transport and the cement industry in the respective countries. Map 4.4.2 Hotspots of roads on peatlands and Map 4.4.4 Hotspots of railways on peatlands By intersecting the GPM 2.0 [22] with global GIS layers for roads and railway lines [62], a hotspot map was developed to visualize the areas of significant overlap of those layers. Map 4.5.2 Hotspots of cropland on peatland and Map 4.5.4 Hotspots of oil palm plantations on peatland By intersecting the GPM 2.0 [22] with the Cropland layer of the 'HILDA+ Global Land Use Change between 1960 and 2019' dataset [59], a hotspot map was developed to visualize the areas globally where peatlands are used for arable farming. Map 4.6.2 Hotspots of populated places (partly) on peatland and Map 4.6.4 Hotspots of urban areas (partly) on peatland By intersecting the GPM 2.0 [22] with a global dataset indicating urban areas and populated places [62], a hotspot map was developed to visualize the areas of significant overlap of those layers. Map 4.7.2 Hotspots of mining on peatland and Map 4.7.4 Hotspots of oil and gas deposits under peatland By intersecting the GPM 2.0 [22] with datasets indicating mining areas [64] and significant oil and gas deposits [65], a hotspot map was developed to visualize areas with significant impacts of mining or potential exploitation of gas and oil on global peat-

Map 4.8.2 Hotspots of large flood events on peatland (2001-2020) Map 4.8.4 Hotspots of peatland at risk from 100-Year flooding Map 4.8.6 Hotspots of potential land subsidence on peatland until 2040 To visualize global peatland regions with high overall flooding risks, we developed hotspot maps by intersecting the GPM 2.0 [22] with 1) an archive dataset on large past flood events [66], 2) a global flood hazard map [67], 3) a global dataset on general subsidence during the last 40 years [68] and 4) more specifically peatland related subsidence [61]. Map 4.9.1 Hotspots of global peatland fire occurrence globally from 2013 to 2022 and Map 4.9.2 Hotspots of peatland fire occurrence in Indonesia from 2013 to 2022

To map fire events on peatlands globally, MODIS data from the NASA Fire Information for Resource Management System (FIRMS [70]) has been gathered from 2013 to 2022. All fire pixels with a confidential value below 30 were removed from the fire GIS datasets before its intersection with the GPM 2.0 to derive annual peat fire hotspot maps. Map 5.1.1 Peatland within and outside protected areas and Map 5.1.2 Peatland within and outside protected areas by region. The map was created by overlaying the GPM 2.0 [22] with global area data from national and international protected areas [73]. By intersecting the data, the proportion of peatlands located within protected areas per continent was determined.

References

1. United Nations Environment Programme (2022). Global Peatlands Assessment – The State of the World's Peatlands: Evidence for action toward the conservation, restoration, and sustainable management of peatlands. Main Report. Global Peatlands Initiative. United Nations Environment Programme, Nairobi.

2. Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (2019a). Annex I: Glossary. In Global Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. Brondizo, E.S., Settele, J., Diaz, S. and Ngo, H.T. (eds.). Bonn: IPBES secretariat. <u>https://zenodo.org/record/5657079</u>

3. Joosten, H., Tanneberger, F. and Moen, A. (eds.) (2017). Mires and Peatlands of Europe; Status, Distribution and Conservation. Schweizerbart Science Publishers, Stuttgart, Germany.

4. Ramsar Convention on Wetlands (2018a). Resolution XIII.12: Guidance on identifying peatlands as Wetlands of International Importance (Ramsar Sites) for global climate change regulation as an additional argument to existing Ramsar criteria. <u>https://www.ramsar.org/sites/default/</u><u>files/documents/library/xiii.12_identifying_peatlands_ramsar_sites_e.pdf</u>

5. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2018). Annex I: Glossary. In Global Warming of 1.5°C: IPCC Special Report on Impacts of Global Warming of 1.5°C above Pre-Industrial Levels in Context of Strengthening Response to Climate Change, Sustainable Development, and Efforts to Eradicate Poverty. Matthews, J.B.R. (ed.). Cambridge University Press. DOI: <u>https://doi.</u> org/10.1017/9781009157940.008

6. Convention on Biological Diversity (1992). United Nations. <u>https://www.cbd.int/doc/legal/cbd-en.pdf</u>

7. Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (2019b). Annex I: Glossary of the Global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services DOI: https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.5020598

8. Hassan, R., Scholes, R. and Ash, N. (eds.) (2005). Appendix D: Glossary. In Ecosystems and Human Well-Being: Current State and Trends. Washington, DC: Island Press. <u>http://www.islandpress.org/book/ecosystems-and-human-well-being-current-state-and-trends</u>

9. Harris, N.L., Goldman, E., Gabris, C., Nordling, J., Minnemeyer, S., Ansari, S. *et al.* (2017). Using spatial statistics to identify emerging hot spots of forest loss. Environmental Research Letters 12(2), 024012. DOI: 10.1088/1748-9326/aa5a2f. <u>https://iopscience.iop.org/</u> article/10.1088/1748-9326/aa5a2f

10. Silverman, B.W. (1998). Density Estimation for Statistics and Data Analysis. Monographs on statistics and applied probability 26. Boca Raton: Chapman & Hall/CRC. <u>https://ned.ipac.caltech.edu/level5/March02/Silverman/</u> <u>paper.pdf</u>

11. Zuidhoff, F. S., and Kolstrup, E. (2005). Palsa Development and Associated Vegetation in Northern Sweden. Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research, 37(1), 49–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1657/1523-0430(2005)037[0049:PDAA-VI]2.0.C0;2</u>

12. Ramsar Convention on Wetlands (2018b). Draft Resolution on Restoration of Degraded Peatlands to Mitigate and Adapt to Climate Change and Enhance Biodiversity. Doc.18.14. Dubai, UAE. <u>https://www.ramsar.org/sites/</u><u>default/files/documents/library/cop13doc.18.14_dr_restoration_peatlands_e.pdf</u>

13. Rydin, H., Jeglum, J. R. and Bennett, K. D. (2013). The Biology of Peatlands. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

14. Pachauri, R.K. and Mayer, L. (eds.) (2015). Annex II: Glossary. In Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Geneva, Switzerland: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. <u>https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/up-</u> loads/2018/05/SYR_AR5_FINAL_full_wcover.pdf

15. Joosten, H. (2016). Peatlands across the globe. In Peatland Restoration and Ecosystem Services: Science, Policy and Practice. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. 19–43. <u>https://www.cambridge.org/core/books/</u> peatlandrestoration-and-ecosystem-services/0626216ED-0DECB81F5764A412859F2E7

16. Walker, D.A. (2000). Hierarchical subdivision of Arctic tundra based on vegetation response to climate, parent material and topography. Global Change Biology 6(S1), 19–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2486.2000.06010.x</u>

17. Farquharson, L.M., Mann, D.H., Grosse, G., Jones, B.M. and Romanovsky, V.E. (2016). Spatial distribution of thermokarst terrain in Arctic Alaska. Geomorphology 273, 116–133. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geomorph.2016.08.007</u>

18. Lara, M., Nitze, I. and Grosse, G. (2018). Tundra landform and vegetation productivity trend maps for the Arctic Coastal Plain of northern Alaska. Scientific Data, 5, 180058. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sdata.2018.58</u>

19. International Organization for Standardization (2013). Soil Quality - Vocabulary (ISO 11074:2015), <u>https://www.iso.org/cms/render/live/en/sites/isoorg/contents/data/</u>

standard/05/92/59259.html

20. Food and Agriculture Organization and Intergovernmental Technical Panel on Soils (2015). Status of the World's Soil Resources: Main Report. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations and Intergovernmental Technical Panel on Soils. <u>https://www.fao.</u> <u>org/3/i5199e/i5199e.pdf</u>

21. Ramsar Convention on Wetlands (2014). Ramsar COP11 Resolution XI.8, Annex 2, Amended August 2014. Strategic Framework and Guidelines for the Future Development of the List of Wetlands of International Importance of the Convention on Wetlands (Ramsar, Iran, 1971). 2012 Edition Adopted as Annex 2 to Resolution XI.8 at COP11, July 2012. <u>https://rsis.ramsar.org/RISapp/Stat-Doc/strategic_framework_en.pdf</u>

22. Greifswald Mire Centre (2022). Global Peatland Map 2.0. Underlying dataset of the UNEP Global Peatland Assessment.

23. Greifswald Mire Centre (2022). Country-wise Global Peatland emission Database (2022) Statistics for (drained) peatlands and GHG emissions in 268 countries and regions.

24. Replace with: Peel, M.C., Finlayson, B.L. and McMahon, T.A. (2007). Updated World map of the Köppen-Geiger climate classification. Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. 11: 1633-1644.

25. United Nations Environment Programme World Conservation Monitoring Centre (2022). Rarity-weighted species richness created from species range polygons extracted from the IUCN Red List (IUCN Red List of Threatened Species (2021) Version 2021.3. <u>http://www. iucnredlist.org</u>) for amphibians, birds, mammals and a few comprehensively assessed fresh water groups (shrimps, crabs and crayfish). Reptiles were added from IUCN Red List (IUCN Red List of Threatened Species (2022). Version 2022.1. <u>http://www.iucnredlist.org</u>).

26. Posa, M.R.C., Wijedasa, L.S., Corlett, R.T. (2011). Biodiversity and Conservation of tropical peat swamp forests, BioScience 61(1): 49–57.

27. United Nations Environment Programme (2019). Frontiers 2018/19 Emerging Issues of Environmental Concern. United Nations Environment Programme, Nairobi.

28. Obu J., Westermann S., Kääb A. and Bartsch A. (2018). Ground Temperature Map, 2000-2016, Northern Hemisphere Permafrost. Alfred Wegener Institute, Helmholtz Centre for Polar and Marine Research, Bremerhaven, PAN-GAEA, <u>https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.888600</u>.

29. Cleef, A., Grundling P.L. and Joosten, H. (eds.) (2014/15). Mountain Peatlands. Mires and Peat 15: 1–3.

30. Hebermehl, L. (2021) A first assessment of the potential distribution of peatlands in Uzbekistan. Proceedings of the Greifswald Mire Centre 03/2021 (self-published, ISSN

2627-910X), 113 S.

31. Pepin, N. C., Arnone, E., Gobiet, A., Haslinger, K., Kotlarski, S., *et al.* (2022). Climate changes and their elevational patterns in the mountains of the world. Reviews of Geophysics, 60, e2020RG000730.

32. Adler, C.P., Wester, I., Bhatt, C., Huggel, G.E., Insarov, M.D., *et al.* (2022). Cross-Chapter Paper 5: Mountains. In: Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (Pörtner, H.O, Roberts, D.C., Tignor, M., Poloczanska, E.S., Mintenbeck, K., et. al (eds.). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA, pp. 2273–2318.

33. Snethlage, M.A., Geschke, J., Spehn, E.M., Ranipeta, A., Yoccoz, N.G., *et al.* (2022). GMBA Mountain Inventory v2. GMBA-EarthEnv. <u>https://doi.org/10.48601/earthenv-t9k2-1407</u>.

34. GRDC Major River Basins of the World (MRB). 2nd, revised edition (2020). <u>https://grdc.bafg.de/GRDC/EN/02_</u> <u>srvcs/22_gslrs/221_MRB/riverbasins.html</u>. 8. <u>http://www.</u> <u>math.yorku.ca/SCS/Gallery/images/humboldt/hum-</u> <u>boldt1805-chimborazo.jpg</u>.

35. Fluet-Chouinard, E., Stocker, B.D., Zhang, Z., *et al.* (2023). Extensive global wetland loss over the past three centuries. Nature 614:281–286.

36. Xi, Y., Peng, S., Ciais, P. and Chen Y. (2020). Future impacts of climate change on inland Ramsar wetlands. Nat. Clim. Chang. 11: 45-51.

37. Wang, R., Ding, J., Ge, X., Wang, J., Qin, S., Tan, J., *et al.* (2023). Impacts of climate change on the wetlands in the arid region of Northwestern China over the past 2 decades. Ecological Indicators 149, 110168, ISSN 1470-160X.

38. <u>https://wetlandinfo.des.qld.gov.au/resources/static/</u>pdf/resources/fact-sheets/profiles/new-profiles/29113-05-arid-swamps-web.pdf.

39. Mao, D., Yang, H., Wang, Z., Song, K., Thompson, J.R. and Flower, R.J. (2022). Reverse the hidden loss of China's wetlands. 376: 1061-1061.

40. Quijano-Baron, J., Carlier, R., Rodriguez, J.F., Sandi, S.G., Saco, P.M., *et al.* (2022) And we thought the Millennium Drought was bad: Assessing climate variability and change impacts on an Australian dryland wetland using an eco-hydrologic emulator. Water Res., 218, Article 118487.

41. Brake, L., Harris, C., Jensen, A., Keppel, M., Lewis, M and Lewis, S (2019). Great Artesian Basin Springs: a Plan for the Future. Evidence-based methodologies for managing risks to spring values. Prepared for the Australian Government Department of Agriculture, South Australian Department for Environment and Water, Queensland

Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy, New South Wales Department of Planning, Industry and Environment, and the Northern Territory Department of Environment and Natural Resources.

42. Greifswald Mire Centre (2024). Draft peatland regionality maps for the World. contact: <u>alex.barthelmes@</u> greifswaldmoor.de

43. Angola Highland photo reproduced with permission of the National Geographic Okavango Wilderness Project.

44. Food and Agriculture Organization (2011). The state of the world's land and water resources for food and agriculture (SOLAW) – Managing systems at risk. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome and Earthscan, London.

45. Schafale, M.P. and Weakley, A.S. (1990). Classification of the natural communities of North Carolina, third approximation. N.C. Department of Environment and Natural Resources, Natural Heritage Program, Raleigh, NC.

46. Helbig, M., Waddington, J.M., Alekseychik, P., Amiro B.D., Aurela, M., Barr, A., *et al.* (2020). Increasing contribution of peatlands to boreal evapotranspiration in a warming climate. Nature Climate Change 10(6), 555–560.

47. Hugelius, G., Loisel, J., Chadburn, S., Jackson, R.B., Jones, M., MacDonald, G., *et al.* (2020). Large stocks of peatland carbon and nitrogen are vulnerable to permafrost thaw. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 117(34), 20438–20446.

48. Hope, G. (2015). Peat in the mountains of New Guinea. Mires and Peat 15: 1–21.

49. Whinam, J., Hope, G. and Clarkson, B. (2012). Mires down under-the peatlands of Australasia. In Mires from Pole to Pole. In: Lindholm, T., Heikkilä, R. (eds.), Finnish Environment Institute (SYKE), Helsinki: 401–417 pp.

50. Brake, L., Harris, C., Jensen, A., Keppel, M., Lewis, M. and Lewis, S. (2019). Great Artesian Basin Springs: a Plan for the Future. Evidence-based methodologies for managing risks to spring values. Prepared for the Australian Government Department of Agriculture, South Australian Department for Environment and Water, Queensland Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy, New South Wales Department of Planning, Industry and Environment, and the Northern Territory Department of Environment and Natural Resources.

51. McGlone, M.S. (2002). The Late Quaternary peat, vegetation and climate history of the Southern Oceanic Islands of New Zealand. Quaternary Science Reviews 21(4–6): 683–707.

52. Convention on Wetlands (2021). Global guidelines for peatland rewetting and restoration. Ramsar Technical Report No. 11. Gland, Switzerland: Secretariat of the Con-

vention on Wetlands.

53. Luthardt, V., Schulz, C. and Meier-Uhlher, R. (2015). Steckbriefe Moorsubstrate, 2. Auflage. Hochschule für nachhaltige Entwicklung Eberswalde, Eberswalde, Germany, 154 S., DOI: 10.23689/fidgeo-3724.

54. International Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) (2014). 2013 Supplement to the IPCC 2006 Guidance for Greenhouse Gas Inventories: Wetlands. Hiraishi, T., Krug, T., Tanabe, K., Srivastava, N., Jamsranjav, B., Fukuda, M., Troxler T. (eds.), Switzerland: IPCC.

55. Global GIS layers for roads and railway lines (<u>https://</u>www.naturalearthdata.com).

56. International Energy Agency (2013). Global land transport infrastructure requirements - estimating road and railway infrastructure capacity and costs to 2050. OECD/ International Energy Agency, Information paper, Paris, France.

57. Williams-Mounsey, J., Grayson, R., Crowle, A. and Holden, J. (2014). A review of the effects of vehicular access roads on peatland ecohydrological processes. Earth-Science Reviews 214, 103528, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>earscirev.2021.103528</u>.

58. Ibisch, P.L., Hoffmann, M.T., Kreft, S., Pe'er, G., Kati, V.I., Biber-Freudenberger, L., *et al.* (2016). A global map of roadless areas and their conservation status. Science 354: 1423-1427.

59. Winkler, K., Fuchs, R., Rounsevell, M.D.A. and Herold, M. (2020). HILDA+ Global Land Use Change between 1960 and 2019. PANGAEA, <u>https://doi.org/10.1594/PAN-GAEA.921846</u>.

60. Descals, A., Wich, S., Meijaard, E., Gaveau, D., Peedell, S. and Szantoi, Z. (2020). High resolution global industrial and smallholder oil palm map for 2019 (Version v0) [Data set]. Zenodo. <u>https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3884602</u>.

61. Ma, L., Zhu, G., Chen, B., Zhang, K., Niu, S., Wang, J., *et al.* (2022). A globally robust relationship between water table decline, subsidence rate and carbon release from peatlands. Commun. Earth Environ. 3, 254.

62. https://www.naturalearthdata.com.

63. United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division (2019). World Urbanization Prospects: The 2018 Revision (ST/ESA/SER.A/420). New York: United Nations.

64. Maus, V., Giljum, S., da Silva, D.M., Gutschlhofer, J., da Rosa, R.P., Luckeneder, S, *et al.* (2022). An update on global mining land use. Scientific Data, 9(1), 433, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41597-022-01547-4</u>.

65. Lujala., P., Rød. J.K. and Thieme, N. (2007). ,Fighting

over Oil: Introducing a new dataset', Conflict Managementcountries of the World. Wetlands International, Ede, 10 p.and Peace Science 24(3): 239-256.+ tables.

66. Brakenridge, G.R. Global Active Archive of Large Flood Events. Dartmouth Flood Observatory, University of Colorado, USA, (Accessed 1 October 2016. <u>http://floodobservatory.colorado.edu/Archives/</u>.

67. Dottori, F., Alfieri, L., Salamon, P., Bianchi, A., Feyen, L. and Hirpa, F. (2016). Flood hazard map of the World - 100-year return period. European Commission, Joint Research Centre (JRC) [Dataset] PID: <u>http://data.europa.eu/89h/jrc-floods-floodmapgl_rp100y-tif</u>.

68. Herrera-García, G., Ezquerro, P., Tomás, R., Béjar-Pizarro, M. and López-Vinielles, J. (2021). Mapping the global threat of land subsidence. Nineteen percent of the global population may face a high probability of subsidence. Science: 371, Issue 6524, pp. 34-36 DOI: 10.1126/science. abb8549.

69. Glückler, R., Herzschuh, U., Kruse, S., Andreev, A., Vyse, S.A., Winkler, B., *et al.* (2021). Wildfire history of the boreal forest of south-western Yakutia (Siberia) over the last two millennia documented by a lake-sediment charcoal record. Biogeosciences, 18,: 4185–4209, <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-18-4185-2021</u>.

70. MODIS Collection 61 NRT Hotspot / Active Fire Detections MCD14DL distributed from NASA FIRMS. Available on-line <u>https://earthdata.nasa.gov/firms</u>.

71. Vetrita, Y. and Cochrane, M.A. (2020). Fire frequency and related land-use and land-cover changes in Indonesia's peatlands. Remote Sensing 12(1): 5.

72. Joosten, H. (2023). Report regarding the activities in Indonesia (supporting KLHK and PROPEAT). Duene e.V.; Greifswald, 46 p.

73. United Nations Environment Programme World Conservation Monitoring Centre and International Union for Conservation of Nature (2022). Protected Planet: The World Database on Protected Areas (WDPA) [Online], Cambridge, UK; available at: <u>www.protectedplanet.net</u>.

74. Olson, D.M. and Dinerstein, E. (2002). The Global 200: Priority ecoregions for global conservation. Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden 89(2): 199-224.

75. Global Peatland Database (2023). Multiple ancillary data for peatland distribution and ecology globally (© Greifswald Mire Center).

76. Jarvis, A., Reuter, H.I., Nelson, A. and Guevara, E. (2008) Hole-Filled Seamless SRTM Data V4. International Centre for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT).

77. Joosten, H. (2009) The Global Peatland CO₂ Picture. Peatland status and drainage associated emissions in all

78. Data extracted from the <u>Ramsar Sites Information</u> <u>Service</u>

79. Data extracted from the <u>IUCN Red List of Threatened</u> <u>Species</u> (VU = vulnerable; EN = endangered; CR = critically endangered).



Special thanks to UNEP's funding partners. For more than 50 years, UNEP has served as the leading global authority on the environment, mobilizing action through scientific evidence, raising awareness, building capacity and convening stakeholders. UNEP's core programme of work is made possible by flexible contributions from Member States and other partners to the Environment Fund and UNEP Planetary Funds. These funds enable agile, innovative solutions for climate change, nature and biodiversity loss, and pollution and waste.

Support UNEP. Invest in people and planet. www.unep.org/funding



www.unep.org unep-communication-director@un.org